





FINAL REPORT Schemas in Problem Solving: An Integrated Model of Learning, Memory, and Instruction

Sandra P. Marshall

December 1991



د مربع بد این این

Center for Research in Mathematics and Science Education

College of Sciences State University State University This research is supported by the Office of Naval Research, Cognitive Sciences Program, Contract No. N00014-90-J-1143.

Reproductions in whole or part is permitted for any purpose of the United States Government.

Approved for public release; distribution unlimited.



12 3 09 168

REPORT DO		PAGE	Forr.: Approved OMB No. 0704-0188
Public reporting burden for this collection of inform gathering and maintaining the data needed, and cor collection of information, including suggestions for Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202430	ation is estimated to average 1 hour p noteting and reviewing the collection of reducing this burden. to Washington H 2, and to the Office of Management at	er response, including the time for r if information. Send comments regu- leadquarters Services, Directorate for ad Budget, Paperwork Reduction Pro	eviewing instructions, searching existing data sour arding this burden estimate or any other aspect of or information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jaffer iget (8704-0188), Washington, DC 20503.
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave blank)	2. REPORT DATE January 1992	3. REPORT TYPE AN Final Repo	D DATES COVERED ort 10/1/89 - 12/31/9
 4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE FINAL REPORT Schemas Integrated Model of Instruction 6. AUTHOR(S) Sandra P. Marshall 	in Problem Sol Learning, Memor	ving: An y, and	5. FUNDING NUMBERS N00014-89-J-1143 G 442c0106
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME Department of Psycho San Diego State Univ San Diego, CA 92182	E(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) logy/CRMSE ersity		8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER CRMSE Report 91-02
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENC Office of Naval Rese Cognitive Science Pr 800 N. Quincy Street Arlington, VA 22217-	Y NAME(S) AND AODRESS(E arch ogram (Code 1142 5000	s) 2CS)	10. SPONSORING / MONITORING AGENCY REPORT NUMBER
11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES			
Approved for public unlimited.	release; distrib	oution	126. DISTRIBUTION CODE
3. ABSTRACT (Maximum 200 words) This final report con and cognitive models statistical model pro as a whole performed situations and shows is a connectionist ne student and yields de individual to another schema knowledge that system. Details of to output is presented.	ntains two paper used to simulat ovides informati on an identific differences amo etwork that simu etails about how f. The second p joins a connec the model are pr	s. The first te student perf on about how t ation task inv ong subgroups. lates the perf learning vari aper outlines tionist networ ovided, and an	describes statistical ormance. The he group of students olving word-problem The cognitive model ormance of each ed from one a hybrid model of k with a production example of its
4. SUBJECT TERMS cognitive model, prob	olem solving, hy	brid model	15. NUMBER OF PAGES 61 16. PRICE CODE
7. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION 18. S OF REPORT	ECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE	19. SECURITY CLASSIFIC OF ABSTRACT	ATION 20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRAC
Unclassified Ur	nclassified	Unclassified	UL Standard Form 298 (Rev. 2-89)

FINAL TECHNICAL REPORT

Grant No: Period: Date of Submission: Name of Institution: Title of Project: ONR N00014-89-J-1143 October 1, 1989 - December 31, 1991 January 25, 1992 San Diego State University Schemas in Problem Solving: An Integrated Model of Memory, Learning, and Instruction Sandra P. Marshall

Principal Investigator:

Table of Contents

Project Summary 1	
Project Publications and Reports	,
Statistical and Cognitive Models of Learning through Instruction	
Sandra P. Marshall)	
Introduction	Ì
The Experiment.)
Statistical Analysis	1
The Cognitive Model)
Discussion. 29)
Problem-Solving Schemas: Hybrid Models of Cognition	,
Sandra P. Marshall & John P. Marshall)	
Overview	,
The Performance Model of Constraint Knowledge	į
The Learning Model	1
The Hybrid Model	;



Project Summary

(Summary of research carried out under ONR Contract No. N00014-85-K-0661 and continued under ONR Grant No. N00014-90-J-1143)

This document serves as the final technical report of ONR Grant No. N00014-90-J-1143, which was funded as a continuation of work carried out under ONR Contract No. N00014-85-K- 0661. As part of the initial project I developed a schema-based model of teaching and learning for the domain of arithmetic word problems (Marshall, Pribe, & Smith, 1987). The schemas emphasize the basic situations that can be contained in such problems. A central focus of the research was to create a model that applied equally well to issues of memory organization, teaching and learning, instructional development, and diagnosis of student learning.

A core set of situations was identified, and a series of studies verified that the situations were sufficient for describing virtually all legitimate word problems (Marshall, 1990). A model of schema knowledge was constructed for each of the basic situations. Each schema model specified the feature knowledge, constraint knowledge, planning knowledge, and implementation knowledge required to use the schema successfully. An extension of the basic schema model yielded ways in which affective components may also be part of schema knowledge (Marshall, 1989). Attention was also given to ways in which different types of schema knowledge could be easily assessed (Marshall, 1988). More recently, I have demonstrated that the schema theory can be applied easily to two other domains, elementary statistics and rational number instruction (Marshall, in press a).

The instructional system, called STORY PROBLEM SOLVER (SPS), was designed to provide instruction about these situations in such a way as to foster the development of appropriate schemas by individuals (Marshall, Barthuli, Brewer, & Rose, 1989). The system consists of (a) a series of lessons requiring about 6-8 hours for completion and (b) a flexible problem-solving environment. Both of these components were designed to focus on specific aspects of schema knowledge required in solving problems.

In the lessons, each component of schema knowledge was addressed implicitly through short instructional segments and related exercises. Students were introduced to a set of icons depicting the situations, and they were encouraged to use the icons to represent the various situations occurring in specific problems. A set of experiments revealed that students did develop the specific types of schema knowledge targeted by SPS and that the icons were a key part of their knowledge (Marshall & Brewer, 1990). Moreover, we were able to chart the development of schemas over the course of instruction through individual interviews with our subjects (Marshall, in press b).

The second part of the system is a flexible Problem-Solving Environment, *PSE*, in which students can experiment with problem representations by manipulating the icons described above. Students are able to select a subset of icons to represent a problem and to link these together to represent the connections in the problem. They have options to expand the icons and explore individual aspects of each one, to carry out calculations, to select other icons if they so desire, or to have the system display a possible representation of the problem. This environment was developed under the

original ONR Contract and evaluated under the project continuation as Grant N00014-90-J-1143 (Marshall, 1991).

The project yielded three major products. First, I created a working computerbased system of instruction that can be used to teach students about solving word problems. The system has been used successfully with about 100 subjects to date (primarily college students with weak problem solving skills). Second, I have developed and refined a theory of schema structure and acquisition. The theory builds on the general nature of schema knowledge found in the cognitive science and cognitive psychological literature but goes considerably beyond it. In particular, the theory allows operational definition of key components of a schema and thus allows empirical tests of whether individuals have acquired these pieces. Third, as a direct consequence of studying the acquisition of schema knowledge and attempting to evaluate students' learning, I have formulated a new model of assessment. The model is a network model, and it stipulates the need for assessing both the number of nodes and the connectivity within the net. Thus, the project results allow us to use the theory of memory organization (i.e., schema theory) to model learning, instruction, and assessment. This last result has had the most far-reaching impact. As can be seen from the attached list of publications and presentations, I have been invited to make a number of contributions about assessing schema knowledge. The importance here is that the theory developed during this project is unique in its use of a common model for learning, instruction, and assessment. Moreover, the theory provides the basis for a linkage between a psychological theory of memory/learning and a new psychometric theory of testing.

Finally, the project also yielded several important modeling results. We have simulated successfully the performance of students as they respond to the computer exercises. The simulation uses estimates of their schema knowledge as revealed in interviews. Both correct and incorrect responses are equally well estimated. We have also employed a series of connectionist models which learn to classify the situations expressed in story problems. The modeling continued under the project renewal and is the focus of the report which follows. The report has two sections. The first section describes statistical and cognitive models of performance on the initial recognition task in the instructional system. The models described therein successfully simulate actual student performance on an item-by-item basis. The second section describes the full model of schema instantiation. This is a hybrid model, incorporating both a productionsystem and a connectionist network. It successfully evaluates multi-step story problems, recognizes their important relational components, and solves the problems for the correct numerical solution.

At the end of this summary is a list of publications, technical reports, conference presentations, and invited addresses that report research from these two projects. Much of the work spanned both of them. Most of the research results will be reported in a book now being prepared for publication by the Cambridge University Press. The book should be completed by September 1992.

Project Publications and Reports

Publications:

- Marshall, Sandra P. (1988). Assessing problem solving: A short-term remedy and a long-term solution. In R. I. Charles & E. A. Silver (Eds.), *The Teaching and Assessing of Mathematical Problem Solving*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Marshall, Sandra P. (1989). Affect in schema knowledge: Source and impact. In D. B. McLeod & V. M. Adams (Eds.), Affect and mathematical problem solving. New York: Springer Verlag.
- Marshall, Sandra P. (1990). The assessment of schema knowledge for arithmetic story problems: A cognitive science perspective. In G. Kulm (Ed.), Assessing higher order thinking in mathematics. Washington, D.C.: AAAS. [a]
- Marshall, Sandra P. (1990). Generating good items for diagnostic tests. In N.
 Frederiksen, R. Glaser, A. Lesgold, & M. Shafto (Eds.), *Diagnostic Monitoring of* Skill and Knowledge Acquisition. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. [b]
- Marshall, Sandra P. (in press). Assessing schema knowledge. In N. Frederiksen, R.
 Mislevy, & I. Bejar (Eds.), Test Theory for a New Generation of Tests. Hillsdale,
 NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. [a]
- Marshall, Sandra P. (in press). Assessment of rational number understanding: A schemabased approach. In T. Carpenter, E. Fennema, & T. Romberg, *Rational Numbers: An Integration of Research*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. [b]
- Marshall, Sandra P. (in press). Statistical and cognitive models of learning through instruction. To appear in Meyrowitz, A. L. & Chipmar, S. (Eds.), *Cognitive Models of Complex Learning*. Norwell, MA: Kluwer Academic Publishers. [c]

Technical Reports:

- Marshall, Sandra P., Pribe, Christopher A., & Smith, Julie D. (1987). Schema Knowledge Structures for Representing and Understanding Arithmetic Story Problems.
- Marshall, Sandra P. (1988). Assessing Schema Knowledge.
- Marshall, Sandra P. (1988). Schema Knowledge for Solving Arithmetic Story Problems: Some Affective Components.
- Marshall, Sandra P., Barthuli, Kathryn E., Brewer, Margaret A., & Rose, Frederic E. (1989). STORY PROBLEM SOLVER: A schema-based system of instruction.
- Marshall, Sandra P. (1991). Computer-Based Assessment of Schema Knowledge in a Flexible Problem-Solving Environment.

Presentations:

- Marshall, Sandra P. (1987, April). Knowledge representation and errors of problem solving: Identifying misconceptions. In W. Montague (Chair), *Diagnosing Errors* in Science and Mathematics. Symposium conducted at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Washington, D.C.
- Marshall, Sandra P. (1988, April). Assessing schema knowledge. In N. Frederiksen (Chair), *Test Theory for Tests Based on Cognitive Theory*. Symposium conducted at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New Orleans.
- Marshall, Sandra P. (1989, January). The assessment of schema knowledge for arithmetic story problems. In G. Kulm (Chair), *Perspectives and Emerging Approaches for Assessing Higher Order Thinking in Mathematics*. Symposium conducted at the Annual Meeting of the American Association for the Advancement of Science (AAAS), San Francisco.
- Marshall, Sandra P. (1990, April). What students learn (and remember) from word problem instruction. In S. Chipman (Chair), *Penetrating to the Mathematical Structure of Word Problems*. Symposium conducted at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Boston.
- Marshall, Sandra P. (1991, April). Computer-based assessment of schema knowledge in a flexible problem-solving environment. In H. F. O'Neil, Jr. (Chair), *Extending the Frontiers of Alternative Assessment with Computer Technology*. Symposium conducted at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Boston.

Invited Addresses:

- "Remedial Instruction for Arithmetic Story Problems: A Cognitive Science Approach." Invited address to the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics, Chicago, April 1988.
- "Schema Knowledge". Invited presentation to the Resource Center for Science and Engineering, University of Puerto Rico, November 1989.

Unpublished Manuscripts:

- Marshall, Sandra P. (1991). Understanding the situations of arithmetic word problems: A basis for schema knowledge.
- Marshall, Sandra P. & Brewer, Margaret A. (1990). Learning from icons: What you see is what you get, or is it?

Book in Preparation:

Working title: Schemas in Problem Solving: An Integrated Model of Instruction, Learning, and Assessment. To be published by Cambridge University Press.

Statistical and Cognitive Models of Learning through Instruction¹

Sandra P. Marshall Department of Psychology San Diego State University San Diego, CA 92182-0315

Abstract

This chapter uses statistical and cognitive models to evaluate the learning of a set of concepts about arithmetic word problems by a group of students. The statistical model provides information about how the group of students as a whole performed on an identification task involving word-problem situations and shows differences among subgroups. The cognitive model simulates the performance of each student and yields details about how learning varied from one individual to another. It is a connectionist model in which the middle layer of units is specified *a priori* for each student, according to the student's level of understanding expressed in an interview. The chapter concludes with a detailed comparison of the simulated responses with the observed student responses.

INTRODUCTION

The learning investigated here occurred as part of a study in which students received computer-based instruction about arithmetic word problems. The central topics of the instruction were five basic situations that occur with great frequency in word problems: *Change, Group, Compare, Restate,* and *Vary.* The instruction had three main segments: (1) the introduction, in which the situations were described; (2) an in-depth exploration, in which details of each situation were elaborated and presented diagrammatically; and (3) the synthesis, in which combinations of situations

¹ To appear in Meyrowitz, A. L. & Chipman, S. (Eds.), Cognitive Models of Complex Learning. Norwell, MA: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

were introduced together with planning and goal-setting techniques.² For each of the three parts of instruction, students engaged in multiple practice exercises. The study reported in this chapter concerns only the first segment of instruction--the introduction to the situations--and the primary focus is the nature of the knowledge that individuals gained from that introductory instruction.

This chapter describes two analyses of what individuals learn from instruction. Both analyses are needed. In the first case, learning is examined in a traditional experimental paradigm, using established statistical procedures. Group features, rather than individual characteristics, receive greater emphasis in this paradigm, and conclusions drawn from the analysis describe group commonalities. In the second case, learning is examined by means of a cognitive model that simulates individual performance. In this analysis, individuals' characteristics are studied, and conclusions apply separately to each individual. As I indicate below, the information gained from each analysis is valuable in a study of learning. Neither one alone provides the complete picture.

The questions of interest in the research are *what* is the new knowledge retained in memory as a result of instruction, *when* is it retained, and *which parts* of it are later accessed and retrieved. During instruction, some new information is (presumably) acquired and added to an individual's available knowledge store. Not all possible information is taken in, and individuals vary in the type and amount of new knowledge that enter memory. It is the rare instance in which all learners learn exactly the same thing from a single instructional lesson. More often, some learners noticeably remember a great deal of the new information while others remember almost nothing.

The Instructional Domain

This section provides a short description of the five situations used in instruction. The situations are *Change*, *Group*, *Compare*, *Restate*, and *Vary*, and they represent uniquely almost all simple stories found in arithmetic story problems (Marshall, 1991).

The *Change* situation is characterized by a permanent alteration over time in a measurable quantity of a single, specified thing. Only the quantity associated with one thing is involved in the *Change* situation. It has a

² Details about the computer-based instruction can be found in Marshall, Barthuli, Brewer, & Rose (1989), a technical report available from the author.

beginning state and an end state, with some intervention which causes a transition from beginning to end. Usually, three numbers are of importance: the amount prior to the change, the extent of the change, and the resulting amount after the change has occurred.

A Group situation is present if a number of small distinct sets are combined meaningfully into one large aggregate. Thus, the Group situation reflects class inclusion. The grouping may be explicit or implicit. If explicit, the solver is told in the problem statement which small groups are to be united. If implicit, the solver must rely on his or her prior semantic knowledge to understand the group structure. For example, in a situation involving boys and girls, the solver would typically be expected to know that boys and girls form a larger class called children. The solver also would be expected to understand that the members of the subgroups (i.e., boys or girls) retain their identity even when combined into a larger group (i.e., children). Three or more numbers are necessary in a Group situation: the number of members in each of the subgroups as well as the overall number in the combination.

The Compare situation is one in which two things are contrasted to determine which is greater or smaller. The numerical size of the difference between the values is unimportant and may not even need to be computed. The Compare situation relies heavily on prior knowledge that individuals have about relations. Most frequently, the Compare situation requires the solver to choose either the larger or smaller of two values when the operative relation is stated as a comparative adjective or adverb (e.g., faster, cheaper, shorter, more quickly). The objective is the determination of whether one's response should be the larger or the smaller of the known values. This situation most typically occurs as the final part of a multi-step item. For instance, one often sees problems in which the solver is expected to decide after several problem-solving steps which of two items offered for sale is the better buy. This final determination is a Compare. It requires only the recognition of which of the two items is less costly--it does not require the computation of how much less.³ Most *Compare* items involve values for only two objects, although it is certainly possible to make comparisons among three or more.

 $^{^{3}}$ It should be noted that the *Compare* situation defined here differs from the semantic relation of the same name developed by Riley, Greeno, and Heller (1983).

The *Restate* situation contains a specific relationship between two different things at a given point in time. The relationship exists only for the particular time frame of the story and cannot be generalized to a broader context. There are two determining features of a *Restate* situation. First, the two things must be linked by a relational statement (e.g.,one of them is twice as great as, three more than, or one half of the size of the other). Second, the relationship must be true for both the original verbal descriptions of the two things and the numerical values associated with them. Thus, if Mary is now twice as old as Alice, then 20 years--which is Mary's age--must be twice as great as 10 years, which is Alice's age. Note that this relationship was not true one year ago nor will it necessarily be true in five years.

The Vary situation is characterized by a fixed relationship between two things that persists over time. The two things may be two different objects (e.g., boys and girls) such that one can describe a ratio as "for every boy who could perform x, there were 2 girls who could do the same", or they may be one object and a measurable attribute of it (e.g., apples and their cost) with the problem having the form "if one apple cost \$.50 then five apples". An essential feature of the Vary situation is the unchanging nature of the relationship. If one of the objects is varied, the amount of the second changes systematically as a function of the known relationship. The variation may be direct or indirect.

Simple examples of these five situations are given in Table 1. During the entire course of computer instruction, each of the situations is introduced, explained, and transformed to a problem setting. Eventually, several are linked together to form multi-step problems. In the introductory lesson, each situation is described by means of an example and with the general features which define it.

Although they are very simple and readily understandable, the five situations are not intuitively known by students through previous instruction. Experiments with groups from several different student populations indicated that students (and teachers) do not typically recognize or use situational knowledge in story problems (Marshall, 1991). Those same experiments show that students of all ages are nevertheless able to learn them.

The present study was designed to investigate how that learning comes about. Because they were previously unknown to the students, the situations in story problems were, in fact, five new concepts to be learned. Thus, the study described here provides a setting for investigating how

	Tab	le 1		
The	Five	Situ	ation	s

CHANGE	To print his computer job, Jeffrey needed special paper. He loaded 300 sheets of paper into the paper bin of the laser printer and ran his job. When he was done, there were 35 sheets of paper left.
GROUP	The Psychology Department has a large faculty: 17 Professors, 9 Associate Professors, and 16 Assistant Professors.
COMPARE	The best typist in the pool can type 65 words per minute on the typewriter and 80 words per minute on the word processor.
RESTATE	In our office, the new copier produces copies 2.5 times faster than the old copier. The old copier produced 50 pages every minute.
VARY	An editor of a prestigious journal noticed that, for a particularly wordy author, there were five reference citations for every page of text. There were 35 text pages in the manuscript.

individuals learn new concepts that have obvious ties to much of their previous knowledge.

The Nature of Instruction

To model successfully the acquisition of knowledge from instruction, one must examine the nature of that instruction and the type of information contained in it. Generally, there are two ways to present new concepts to students. The instructor can introduce the name of the concept and give a prototypic example. The example contains specific details and is couched in a setting that should be well-understood by students. An alternative approach is for the instructor to provide the name of the concept and give a general description of its most important features. This information is abstract and contains basic characteristics that should apply to all possible instances of the concept. In practice, instructors typically do both. They introduce a new concept by name, give a representative case in which the concept clearly occurs, and then make a broad statement about the concept, which is intended to help the learner generalize the concept from the given example to other potential instances.

Some interesting research has been carried out to determine whether students learn differentially under different instructional conditions. Usual studies of instructional content tend to contrast one form of information with another, such that each student sees only one type. An example of this type of research is found in Sweller's (1988) comparison of problem-solving performance following rule-based or example-based instruction.

The issue I address is different: Given access to typical instruction in which both specific information (i.e., examples) and abstract information (i.e. definitions) are available, which will a student remember? Do students commit equal amounts of specific and abstract knowledge to memory? Is one type necessarily encoded first, to be followed by the other? Are there large individual differences? If so, are these differences related to performance? The following experiment provides some initial answers to these questions.

THE EXPERIMENT

Subjects

Subjects were 27 college students with relatively weak problem-solving skills. They were recruited from introductory psychology classes. On a pretest of ten multi-step arithmetic word problems, they averaged six correct answers.

Procedure

Each student worked independently on a Xerox 1186 Artificial Intelligence Workstation. All instruction and exercises were displayed on the monitor, and the student responded using a three-button optical mouse. Each student participated in five sessions, with each session comprised of computer instruction, computer exercises, and a brief interview. Students spent approximately 45-50 minutes working with the computer in each session and talked with the experimenter for about 5-10 minutes in the interviews. As stated previously, only the first session--the introduction to the five situations--is of interest here.

Data Collection

Data were collected from two sources: student answers to the first exercise presented by the computer and student responses to the interview questions. Each is described below.

Identification task. The first source of data was the computer exercise that followed the initial instructional session. The items in this task resembled those of Table 1. They were selected randomly for each student from a pool of 100 items, composed of 20 of each type. During the exercise, one item at a time was displayed, and the student responded to it by selecting the name of one situation from a menu containing all five names: *Change, Group, Compare, Restate, Vary.* The student received immediate feedback about the accuracy of the answer, and if the student responded incorrectly, the correct situation was identified.

The order of item presentation was uniquely determined for each student. Items of each situation type remained eligible for presentation until one of two criteria was obtained: Either the student had given correct responses for 2 instances or the student had responded incorrectly to 4 of them. Thus, a student responded to at least 2 items of each type and to no more than 4 of them. The minimum number of items displayed in the exercise for any student was 10, which occurred only if the student answered each of them correctly. The maximum number that could be presented was 20 items, which could happen only if a student erred in identifying the first two items of all five types. The number of items presented ranged from 10 to 18.

Interview Responses. The second source of data was information given by the students in the interviews. The interview followed immediately after the identification task described above. During the interview, each student was asked to describe the situations as fully as he or she could. The student was asked first to recall the names of the situations and then to describe each one that he or she had named. After each of the student's comments, the experimenter prompted the student to provide additional details if possible. All interviews were audiotaped and transcribed.

It is the interview data that reveal which pieces of instruction were encoded and subsequently retrieved by each student. Certainly, not all of the new knowledge acquired by an individual will be revealed in an interview. It is expected that students have more knowledge than they can access (as pointed out by Nisbett & Wilson, 1977). Nevertheless, the interview data are indicative of how the individual has organized his or her knowledge of the newly acquired concepts, and they suggest which pieces of knowledge are most salient for the individual. Following well-known studies such as Collins and Loftus (1975) or Reder and Anderson (1980), we may assume that individuals will tend to retrieve the most closely associated features and those with highest salience for the individual.

Knowledge Networks and Cognitive Maps

Data from the student interviews were used to construct knowledge networks, one for each student. Each network consists of a set of *nodes*, representing the distinct pieces of information given by the student, and *links* connecting the nodes, representing associations between the pieces of information.

The interviews were coded in the following way. First, irrelevant comments were eliminated. These were things such as "Um, let me think" or "I'm trying to remember" Next, distinct components or elements of description were identified. These were usually phrases but could also be single words. These became the nodes of the knowledge networks. Two nodes were connected in a network if the student linked their associated pieces of information in his or her interview response. Two research assistants and the author coded each interview with complete agreement.

In addition to the knowledge network for each student, an "ideal" network was constructed from the instructional text. As with the students' networks, nodes were created to represent each distinct piece of information. Two separate pieces of information appearing contiguously in the text were represented by two nodes with a link between them. Needless to say, this network was substantially larger than any student network. It represents all that a student could possibly encode from the instruction, and thus it serves as a template against which to measure the amount and type of information encoded by each student. The "ideal" network for all of the situational information is presented in Figure 1.

Two things should be noted about the network presented in Figure 1. First, distances between nodes and spatial orientation of the nodes have no meaning. Only the presence or absence of nodes and links is of importance. Second, in this figure, all nodes appear equally important, and the same is true for the links. Strength and activation are not shown. However, in theory each node has a measure of strength that is a function of how many times it appears in the instruction, and each link has a similar measure of activation, depending upon how frequently the two nodes are linked.



Figure 1 represents the ideal case in which all information is included in the network. Normally students do not retain all of the details, and the networks one constructs for them appear incomplete when compared with the ideal situation. Thus, we expect the student networks to be considerably sparser than that shown in Figure 1.

Several types of information may be gleaned from a student's knowledge network. First, of course, the network is an indication of how much the student remembered. The number of nodes in a network provides an estimate of this information. Second, the network shows which pieces of information are related for an individual. A measure of association can be made by counting the number of links and using that number to estimate the degree of connectivity of the entire network. Node count and degree of connectivity are standard network measures. I have discussed elsewhere how they may be used to estimate a student's knowledge of a subject area (Marshall, 1990). In this chapter I examine two additional types of information: (a) *specificity*, which is the students' tendency to recall specific or abstract features to describe the situations and (b) *confusions*, which show the extent to which students confused different aspects of the five situations. One examines nodes to estimate the former and links to estimate the latter.

Specificity. Each node in the "ideal" network reflects one of two types of detail: specific or abstract. Specific knowledge refers to elements of information having to do with the examples presented in instruction, and it reflects the particular details of the example. Abstract knowledge refers to the general features or definition of the situation. The instruction contains approximately an equal amount of both types, as can be seen in Figure 1. The abstract nodes are represented by filled circles, and the specific ones are indicated by hollow circles.⁴

Each distinct piece of information (i.e., each node) recalled by a student was categorized as being *specific* or *abstract*. A response was considered to be *specific* knowledge if it pertained to a specific example. Typically, students giving this sort of response referred to details from the initial example used in the computer instruction. An illustration is given in the specific response of Table 2. The italicized phrases are examples of specific detail. In contrast, a response was considered to be abstract knowledge if it reflected a general definition or characterization. Table 2 also contains an illustration of an *abstract* response, and the italicized phrases indicate the abstract detail. The final example of a student response in Table 2 illustrates the case in which neither abstract nor specific detail is recalled.

Three measures of specificity were developed: the number of specific responses, the number of abstract responses, and the ratio of abstract to specific responses. These measures were used in the statistical analyses described below.

Confusions. In the networks representing situational knowledge, two types of links are possible, intra-situational and inter-situational links. Intra-situational links are judged always to be valuable. That is, if two nodes are both associated with one situation and they are connected to each other, then the retrieval of one of the nodes ought to facilitate the retrieval

⁴ It should be noted that the instruction was not developed under the constraint that equal abstract and specific details be contained in it. The guiding principle was to explain each situation as completely as possible, using specific and/or abstract elements as needed.

Table 2 Examples of Student Responses		
ABSTRACT	Q:	What do you remember about Group?
	A :	Group is when you have different items, <i>different groups of items</i> , that can be categorized into one general group.
SPECIFIC:	Q:	What about Group?
	A :	That was when you bought 7 shirts and 4 pairs of shorts and they grouped it into clothing. So you had 11 separate things of clothing.
NONE:	Q:	Tell me about Change.
	A :	I pressed that review button so many times and I can't remember anything right now. Um, change was, um my mind is blank right now. I did okay on the computer. I've forgotten just about everything. I'm traine to think of an averagin. I know they about
	`, *	something and make something else.

of the other. This is the principle of spreading activation. In general, the more knowledge the individual has about a concept and the greater the number of associations connecting that knowledge, the better the individual understands it. Figure 2 shows how the "ideal" network of Figure 1 can be represented as a two-layer map. The nodes at the upper level are the five situations, and those at the lower level are the knowledge nodes developed during instruction. Connections among the nodes at the lower layer represent intra-situational links. Generally, a larger number of connections at this level indicates greater understanding on the part of the individual. It is these connections that are shown as well in the network of Figure 1.

In contrast, inter-situational links, i.e., links between different situations, may or may not be of value to the individual's learning, because they are a potential source of confusion. Such links will not always reflect confusions; situations could in principle share one or more features. In the present case, however, the instruction was carefully designed to eliminate common features among situations. This is reflected in Figure 2 by the connection from each node at the lower level to a single node at the upper



Figure 2: THE "IDEAL" MAP

level. Given the design of instruction, there should be no inter-situational links. That is, no node at the lower level should connect to more than a single upper level node. Such linkages would be confusion links and reflect a misunderstanding about the two situations so linked.

An example of differences in students' inter-situational and intrasituational links is given in Figure 3. Two student maps are presented in this figure. Both students encoded a relatively large amount of information from the instruction, compared with other students in the experiment, but it is clear from the figure that they recalled different elements of information. Student S7 remembered distinct pieces of information about each situation and showed no confusions. S22, on the other hand, expressed a number of confusions, which are represented in Figure 3 by the dashed links between the two layers of nodes. These cognitive maps are characteristics of incomplete mastery. The situational knowledge of every student can be described by such a map. Obviously, the deficits of a student are highly individual. These individual differences will be discussed further in a later section of this chapter.

In summary, the student network and its corresponding map provide information about the number of details the student remembered about a situation, the amount of connectivity, the type of knowledge (i.e., abstract or specific), and the number of confusions in the student's response. The networks and the measures described here were the bases for the statistical



Figure 3: TWO STUDENT MAPS

analyses presented below and also served as input to the simulation model, which is described in the section following the statistical analyses.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Three questions are addressed by the statistical evaluation. The first is whether students remember different amounts of detail from instruction, the second is whether one can characterize the type of information encoded by a student, and the third is whether these differences are related to the students' success on the identification task. Evaluation of the student networks shows that some students were more likely to encode mostly specific details, some were more likely to encode mostly abstract information, some encoded both in about equal proportions, and some encoded almost nothing. The statistical analysis evaluates whether these tendencies are related to performance on the identification task and whether the relationship can be generalized to the entire group of students. It is evident from the interview data that students varied greatly in the amount of information they were able to recall about the five situations. The number of different details retrieved by students extended from a low of 3 to a high of 20. The mean number of details was 13.5, with a standard deviation of 4.02.

The number of abstract and specific details recalled also varied, and the ratio of abstract to specific detail ranged from 14:3 to 6:14. Thus, the answers to both the first and the second questions are affirmative: There were clear differences in the total amount of information recalled as well as differences in the amount of abstract and specific information.

Two analyses provide insight into the importance of this difference. First, on the basis of their interview responses, students could be divided into three groups: *Abstract, Specific*, and *Both*. Students classified as *Abstract* gave predominantly definitional responses in the interview. Those classified as *Specific* used mostly example information from the computer instruction to describe the situations. Those classified as *Both* responded with approximately equal numbers of abstract and specific detail. For membership in either the *Abstract* or *Specific* group, students had to have given at least 9 different pieces of information during the interview with at least twice as many instances of one type of information as the other. Approximately equal numbers of students could be classified as *Abstract* or *Specific*, with 6 in the former and 7 in the latter. An additional 11 students were categorized as *Both*. These students gave at least 9 responses with approximately equal numbers of abstract and specific details.

Figure 4 shows the relative performance on the identification task of the three groups described above. A one-way analysis of variance, with a dependent measure of correct responses to the identification task,⁵ indicates that the groups differed significantly in their ability to recognize the situations, F(2, 21) = 4.53, p < .025.⁶ As can be seen in Figure 4,

⁵ It will be recalled that students viewed differing numbers of items on this exercise. For purposes of comparison in this analysis, only the first two exemplars of each type of situation were scored. Thus, each student received a score from 0-10.

⁶ Complete data were not recorded for two students. One loss was the result of computer failure and the second was the result of a malfunction in the recording of the interview. These two students were excluded from the analyses reported here. Two other students having only 6 and 3 interview responses respectively were also excluded from this analysis.



Figure 4: GROUP PERFORMANCE

students who responded primarily with abstract characterizations of the five concepts were most successful, followed by those who used both types of information. The group relying on examples only were less successful than those using abstract only or abstract knowledge in conjunction with specific details. The performance of the abstract group was significantly higher than the performance of the example group, t(21)=3.005, p < .01.

The above analysis shows that differences in student performance can be explained in terms of whether a student remembered abstract or specific information. One also expects that the absolute number of details that a student remembers--regardless of whether they are definition or example--would be a good predictor of performance. Surprisingly, this is not the case. The Pearson product moment correlation between the number of correct responses on the performance test and the total number of nodes encoded from the student's interview is .074, accounting for less than 1% of the variance.

A second and more informative way of analyzing the data is a multiple regression analysis based on the type and amount of information, the intersituational confusions, and the interaction between the two. In this analysis, the predictors are (1) X_1 , the ratio of abstract to specific detail, (2) X_2 , the number of confusions mentioned explicitly by the student, and (3) X_3 , a product variable of the first two predictors. The dependent measure, again, is the 10-item identification task. The resulting prediction equation was: $Y' = 6.667 + .602X_1 + .545X_2 - .617X_3$, with all coefficients reaching the conventional .05 level of significance. The model accounted for 43% of the variance and was statistically significant, $R^2 = 0.43$; F(3, 21) = 5.38, p < .01.

In general, students with higher abstract to specific ratios performed better on the identification task and made fewer confusion errors. Students with low ratios (i.e., those with more specific answers) named relatively few confusions but also responded with fewer correct answers. Students with approximately the same number of specific and abstract responses had the greatest number of stated confusions.

Thus, the statistical analyses suggest several group characteristics with respect to learning new concepts. That is, there are tendencies of response that apply over many individuals, not just a single one. These analyses are based on summaries of the cognitive maps and aggregate responses to the identification task. A more detailed investigation of individuals' responses provide additional information about the nature of learning in this study.

THE COGNITIVE MODEL

A more exacting analysis of the relationship between each student's cognitive map and his or her responses to the identification task was carried out by simulating the responses using a simple feed-lateral connectionist model. The model simulates for each student his or her response to each item of the identification task that the student actually attempted to identify.

The general model is given in Figure 5. It has three types of units: inputs, student nodes, and outputs. Inputs to the model are coded representations of the problems, and outputs are the names of the situations. As in most connectionist models, activation spreads from the input units at the lowest level to those of the intermediate level(s) through their connections. At the middle level, activation spreads laterally from the nodes directly activated by the lower level units to other nodes at the same level with which they are linked (this is represented by the two middle layers in Figure 5). Finally, the total activation coming into each unit at the output level is evaluated, and the output unit with the highest activation is the model response. Unlike many connectionist models, the units at the middle layer, their connections with other nodes at this level, and their linkages to the upper level are determined explicitly from empirical data.



Table 3 Item Characteristics Used to Encode Story Situations

General Characteristics: Set modification Permanent alteration Class inclusion (explicit or implicit) Relation between two objects Relation between an object and a property of that object Fixed relation (implied) Relative size Size differential Percentage Causality Multiple agents Multiple objects Unit measurement Two identical relations

Key Phrases:

Each/every/per As many as Have left Altogether/A total of More/less Cost Same If ...Then Money

Time Features:

Specific time elements (minutes, days, weeks) Before/after

The bottom layer of units. The inputs consist of information about the items that comprise the identification task. There are 27 possible characteristics that can be present in any item. The set of characteristics is given in Table 3. Each item is coded according to these characteristics as a 27-element vector containing 0's and 1's, with 1 indicating the presence of a

characteristic and 0 its absence. Not all characteristics will be present in any single item; usually a simple situation requires only a few of them. The mean number of characteristics for the 100 items used in the identification task was 4.33. All 100 items were encoded by three raters with complete agreement.

The middle layers of units. For each student, the middle layers of the model contains a set of nodes and the connections between them. The two layers have identical sets. The nodes and links were identified from the student interviews, as described previously, and they formed the basis of the statistical analyses of the preceding section. Three trained individuals read the transcript of each individual's interview and determined which nodes were present and whether they were linked. As in the characteristics coding above, the three coders were in complete agreement.

The top layer of units. The outputs for the model are the five situation names: Change, Group, Compare, Restate, and Vary. Only one output is produced for a given input vector. The five possible outputs compete, and the one with the highest accumulated activation wins.

Connections between the bottom and middle layers. Each input element may connect directly to one or more of the nodes contained in the student's network (represented by the middle layers of nodes). Two layers are needed in this model to illustrate the feed-lateral aspect. The lower of the node layers connects to the input units. The second layer illustrates how the nodes connect with each other. Each node from the lower node set connects to itself and to any other nodes to which it is linked, as determined from Figure 2. Thus, activation spreads from the input units to the lower node layer. Each node transfers its own activation to the next layer and also spreads additional activation to any other nodes to which it is connected. This particular two-layer representation of a feedlateral network preserves the usual constraint that activation spreads upward through the model.

Some of the input elements (i.e., those units represented at the very bottom of Figure 5) may activate many nodes in the network, some may activate only a few, and some may fail to make a connection (if the student lacks critical nodes). The allowable linkages between the input and middle layers of units were determined by mapping the input characteristics to the "ideal" map of the entire instruction. Recall that the input characteristics are general features. Most of them activate multiple nodes, and these nodes are frequently associated with different situations. Thus, it is rare that one input characteristic points to a single situation. The full pattern of possible activation is shown in Figure 5. Note that this figure illustrates all characteristics as they link to all nodes and is thus a theoretical pattern. The model would never be presented with a problem containing all possible features, nor did any student have all possible nodes at the middle layers.

Once the student network receives the input, activation spreads from the nodes directly targeted by the input elements through any links they have to other nodes at this level. All of the activated nodes then transmit their total activation to the units at the upper level. The amount of activation for each situation is determined from the accumulation of activated links leading to it. The five situations compete with each other for the highest level of activation, and the one with the highest value becomes the output. Thus, the model of Figure 5 represents the input of an item, the activation of the student's semantic network, the competition among situations, and the final output as a result of total activation throughout the model.

The model depends upon the set of nodes for each student, the pattern of linkages among them, the overall association of subsets of nodes with the situation labels, and the input characteristics of the items. All except the latter are derived from the student cognitive maps described earlier.

Model Verification

As a test of the model's adequacy, a simulation was carried out in which the ideal network of Figure 2 was used as the student model. The 100 items available in the identification task were presented to the model, and its responses were compared with the correct answers. The model performed with 100% accuracy, successfully identifying the situations for all items.

Simulation Results

A simulation of each student's performance on the identification task was carried out. For each student, the response to the first item encountered in the exercise was simulated first, using that item's vector of characteristics and the student's network information. The second item followed, and then all subsequent items until the exercise terminated. Thus, the simulation covered all items presented to the student in the order in which the student saw them.

As described above, the number of items answered by students varied from 10 to 18, yielding a total of 360 item responses. A comparison of the results of the simulation of these 360 responses with the actual student responses to them is given in Table 4.

	Outcome	Frequency Observed Outcomes	Frequency Adjusted Outcomes*
	CSM	192	192
	C SM	64	64
	С ⁻ S М	19	13
	CS M	30	13
	С <u>М</u> _S	55	51
	Total	360	333
Key:	(1) <i>CSM</i>	Both model and studer	nt answered correctly.
-	(2) C SM	Model and student ma	de the same error.
	(3) C S M	Model and student ma	de different errors.
	(4) CS \overline{M}	Student answered corre	ectly: model erred.
	(5) CM_S	Model answered corre	ctly; student erred.
	(C = correct)	response; $S =$ student resp	sonse; $M = \text{model response}$
	*Impossible n	natches excluded	

Table 4Simulation Results

Table 4 presents the observed classification of the students' responses as well as an adjusted classification against which the model was compared. All 360 items comprise the observed classification. In the adjusted classification, some items have been omitted from consideration because the model was constrained by a lack of information from the student interview. This occurred under the following condition: If a student was unable to remember the name of a situation or anything that described it in the interview, the model for that student would have no nodes at the middle layer that could link to the situation name. Thus, the model would be constrained to ignore that situation and would never generate a response pointing to it. Consequently, if a student omitted entirely a situation in the interview, all items for which the student gave that situation as a response were likewise eliminated. There were 27 of these impossible matches. As shown in Table 4, 17 of these were items which the student answered correctly, and 10 were items on which the student erred. It should be noted that these are not model failures but are interview failures.

Each application of the model to a vector of item characteristics, representing a single item, resulted in one of five outcomes, as shown in Figure 5. Outcomes CSM and C_SM are exact, successful simulations of the model. In both cases, the model generated a response that was identical to the one produced by the student. In the first, the response was correct, and in the second, it was an error. The outcome C_S_M is considered to be a partial success of the model. Both the student response and the model response were in error, but they were different errors. In these cases, the model accurately predicted that the student lacked critical knowledge and would err.

The remaining two outcomes, CS_M and CM_S , represent simulation failures. The most serious of these is CS_M , reflecting cases in which the student answered correctly but the model failed to do so. They are serious failures because they suggest that the model did not capture sufficiently the student's knowledge about the situations. It should be noted that more than half of the observed instances of CS_M were impossible matches, as described previously. That is, the student omitted any discussion of the situation in the interview, and the model was subsequently constrained to ignore it. As mentioned above, these instances are considered to be interview failures rather than model failures. Only the remaining 13 instances are true model failures, representing just 3.9% of all responses.

The final outcome category, CM_S , also represents model failure but is less critical than the failures of CS_M . In this category, the model made a correct response when the student did not.

Many of the CM_S simulation failures can be explained by considering the students' experience as they respond to the identification task. During the actual task, many students made errors on one or more situations and then apparently learned to classify these same situations correctly. This is evidenced by their patterns of responses, typically an incorrect response to a situation followed by two correct responses to the same situation, with no additional errors. What has happened in such cases is that the student's knowledge network presumably changed during the course of the task. The knowledge base that generated the early incorrect responses is not necessarily the same one that generated the later successful ones. And, it is only the latter that is reflected in the student's interview. In such instances, the model would correctly match the two correct responses, but it would also give the correct response to the first item that the student missed. The model does not learn. It simulates the state of the student at the end of the exercise, as reflected in the interview. If the student learned during the course of the exercise, we have no way of knowing what node configuration corresponded to the earlier, incorrect responses. Under the most conservative criterion of learning--an error followed by two correct responses--25% of the mismatches can be accounted for by student learning. In each case the model gave the correct response to all three items. ⁷

Another 25% of the mismatches occurred when both the model and the student selected different wrong situations as the response option. In these cases, the model correctly determined that the student would not give the correct response. The model's answers may differ from the student's for a number of reasons, including guessing. These were, after all, multiple choice exercises, in which students were asked to select the correct situation from the menu of five possible ones. Students probably guessed at some of the answers, but the model does not guess.

There are other possible explanations for the model failures. On the one hand, some students may have been prone to "slip" as they made their selections using the mouse, resulting in the unintentional selection of the option residing either above or below the desired one. It is not an uncommon phenomenon, as those who use a mouse frequently can attest. Accidental errors of this sort are undetectable. Similarly, students may have used a test-taking strategy, such as avoiding the selection of one response if they used it on the immediately preceding exercise. These errors are also undetectable: The model does not take test-taking strategies into account.

If we consider the "probable learning" mismatches (i.e., those that were followed by two correct matches on the same situation) and the "different error" mismatches (i.e., those in which the model and student both erred but selected different errors) as *understandable or explainable* discrepancies, the total number of mismatches between students and the model is reduced from 77 to 51, leaving only 13 CS_M and 38 CM_S as mismatches. Thus, the model satisfactorily accounts for 85% of all student responses.

A final evaluation of the model's performance comes from examining how well individual student performance was simulated by the model. The

 $^{^7}$ Several other instances exist in which the student made multiple errors on a situation and then responded correctly to one final instance of that situation. While it is very plausible that learning also occurred in these cases, one hesitates to draw a conclusion based only on one response. Thus, these errors remain unexplained.

Student	No. of Items	No. of "Impossible" Matches	Percent Exact Matches	Percent "Explained" Matches	Total Percent Matches
1	13	3	100%	0	100%
2	15	Õ	80%	7%	87%
3	13	3	90%	10%	100%
4	13	3	80%	10%	90%
5	16	Ō	75%	6%	81%
6	11	Ō	100%	0	100%
7	14	Ō	86%	7%	93%
8	13	Ō	92%	0	92%
9	14	5	100%	Õ	100%
10	15	2	85%	7%	92%
11	15	3	67%	8%	73%
12	16	Õ	63%	31%	94%
13	14	.0	71%	0	71%
14	13 :	ÌŌ.	69%	8%	77%
15	14	3	100%	0	100%
16	13	3	90%	10%	100%
17	15	Ō	73%	14%	87%
18	14	Ō	79%	7%	86%
19	14	Ō	79%	7%	86%
20	18	Ō	67%	7%	72%
21	13	Ō	69%	0	69%
22	16	Ō	69%	12%	81%
23	16	Ō	56%	13%	69%
24	16	2	57%	7%	64%
25	16	ō	69%	12%	81%

		Table 5			
	Simulati	on of Individual	Performa	nce:	
A Comparison	of Model	Responses with	Observed	Student	Responses

results for each student simulation are given in Table 5. Two measures of success are given in the table. The first is the number of exact matches, excluding the "impossible" ones. The second is the overall percentage of satisfactory matches for each individual and is given in the extreme right-hand column of the table. This percentage is based on the number of satisfactory matches, including the "probable learning" and "different error" mismatches described above but eliminating from consideration the "impossible" matches. As can be seen in Table 5, the performance of 6 of the 25 students was fit exactly by the model with 100% agreement. The

model simulated the performance of an additional 12 students with accuracy between 80-99%. The model's success rate fell below 70% for only 3 students, to a low of 64%.

DISCUSSION

There are several important implications that result from this study. They are discussed below with respect to the three questions posed in the introduction: What do they learn, when do they learn it, and what can they retrieve?

What specific information does a student learn from initial instruction about a new topic?

One of the most striking findings was that students tended to encode and use specific details from the initial examples used in instruction. Almost all of the example nodes had to do with the five introductory examples, despite the fact that several other examples were given later in the instruction. (See, for example, the *Specific* response of Table 2.) This finding suggests that the very first example of a concept is highly important and should, therefore, be carefully developed. For many students, the initial examples provided the scaffolding for the semantic networks. Some of the details of those examples led to erroneous connections. As a case in point, the example for one of the situations was based on money, leading some students to expect (incorrectly) this situation to be present whenever money was in the problem. These faulty connections were very evident in their interview responses.

A general pattern of encoding was apparent from the students' responses. Several students described the situations only in terms of the examples. When prompted, they were unable to embellish their descriptions by using abstract characterizations. No instance of example information followed by abstract information was observed. In contrast, students having abstract knowledge always used it in preference to giving example details. That is, their initial responses were generalizations. When prompted for more information, they used example details to support their abstract descriptions. These findings suggest that students may first encode the example information and then build the abstract network around it. Once formed, the abstract portion of the network becomes stronger upon exposure to additional examples, whereas the example portion does not augment its activation or strength. If the abstract information is not encoded, the details of the example--which received high strength initially--remain the most salient elements of the network.

How is the information that the student encoded in memory related to the student's performance?

The statistical analyses suggest that the degree to which a student is able to use his or her abstract information is positively related to the student's success on the identification task. Those able to express mainly abstract knowledge apparently had the best understanding of the five concepts and were most easily able to identify them. Those for whom the abstract characterizations were somewhat incomplete (e.g., those who were able to give abstract description for some concepts but needed example details to describe others) performed less well but still were more successful than those who predominantly relied on example details.

The primary implication of this finding is that instruction should be developed to facilitate the linkage of abstract knowledge to easily understood example knowledge. The examples were undoubtedly salient and easily encoded. For some students, the abstract characterizations were equally easy to encode, but this was not universally true.

Does the cognitive model reflect this relationship?

The connectionist model is a useful way to examine individual performance of students as they identified these concepts. The simulation of individual performance was extremely successful. The high level of agreement between model performance and student performance suggests that the model captures most of the salient and discriminating information actually used by the students. Most important, the model demonstrates the impact of missing nodes and erroneously linked pairs of nodes. In many cases, knowledge of which nodes were missing led to accurate predictions of subjects' erroneous responses. In others, incorrect linkages among nodes also led to accurate predictions of errors. The model and its simulation provides strong support for the use of cognitive networks to represent learning of concepts.

REFERENCES

- Collins, A. M. & Loftus, E. F. (1975). A spreading activation theory of semantic processing. *Psychological Review*, 82, 407-428.
- Marshall, S. P. (1990). Selecting good diagnostic items. In N. Frederiksen, R. Glaser, A. Lesgold, & M. Shafto (Eds.) *Diagnostic monitoring of skill* and knowledge acquisition (pp. 433-452). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Marshall, S. P., Barthuli, K. E., Brewer, M. A., & Rose, F. E. (1989). STORY PROBLEM SOLVER: A schema-based system of instruction. Technical Report 89-01 (ONR Contract N00014-85-K-0661). San Diego: San Diego State University, Center for Research in Mathematics and Science Education.
- Marshall, S. P. (1991). Understanding the situations of arithmetic story problems: A basis for schema knowledge. Unpublished manuscript.
- Nisbett, R. E. & Wilson, T. D. Telling more than we can know: Verbal reports on mental processes. *Psychological Review*, 84, 231-259.
- Riley, M. S., Greeno, J. G., & Heller, J. (1983). Development of children's problem-solving ability in arithmetic. In H. Ginsburg (Ed.), *The development of mathematical thinking* (pp. 153-196). New York: Academic Press.

Tarmizi, R. A., & Sweller, J. (1988). Guidance during mathematical problem solving. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 80 pp. 424-436.

Problem-Solving Schemas: Hybrid Models of Cognition

Sandra P. Marshall San Diego State University San Diego, CA

> John P. Marshall Crystal Graphics, Inc. Santa Clara, CA

An ongoing controversy in the cognitive science community centers on the nature of the models used to represent cognitive phenomena. The two primary contenders are production-system models (such as ACT* and SOAR) and connectionist models (such as those produced by McClelland and Rumelhart or Grossberg and his associates). Critics of both sides argue that the other cannot suffice to capture human behavior. Both appear to be right. Perhaps what is needed is a model that combines the best--and lessens the worst--features of both kinds of model. A hybrid model having these characteristics is the topic of this report.

The recognition that hybrid models are needed is not new. A number of prominent researchers (from both sides of the argument) have suggested that some union of the two representations is in order. For example, in *The Computer and the Mind*, Philip Johnson-Laird hypothesized that one way to get around some of the dilemmas posed by existing models of cognition was to "postulate different levels of representation: high-level explicit symbols and low-level distributed symbolic patterns" (p. 192). The opinion of a long-time connectionist is reflected in the title of a recent article: "Hybrid Computation in Cognitive Science: Neural Networks and Symbols" (J. A. Anderson, 1990). And, Marvin Minsky echoes the sentiment in his 1991 paper, "Logical Versus Analogical or Symbolic Versus Connectionist or Neat Versus Scruffy," where he states explicitly that we "need integrated systems that can exploit the advantages of both" (p. 37).

The need to combine the two representations derives from the fact that neither alone has been entirely satisfactory in modeling complex cognition. Symbolic production systems, as the oldest and most widely used of the two, have been very successful in describing some important aspects of rule-based problem solving. They have been widely used in artificial intelligence and have greatly influenced the development of intelligent tutoring systems (Winger, 1987).

At the same time, such systems are noted for their inflexibility on some relatively simple tasks, such as object recognition and classification. Bereiter (1991) provides a good discussion of some of the central problems with rule-based

cognitive models. As he (and others) point out, humans are not particularly good at working out extended logical sequences. They make mistakes. A production system does not make mistakes, and one difficulty in working with production models is to produce human-like errors from the model. Many models consistently have better performance than the humans they are intended to mimic.

A second difficulty lies in the way that production systems work, namely systematically, orderly, and efficiently. People don't seem to have those characteristics. We see this difficulty when we try to model complex problem solving, using protocols generated by experts or by novices. Very few individuals start at the beginning of a problem and proceed carefully through a top-down process to reach the solution. To model their performance, we all too often are forced to disregard some of the protocol material in our quest for sequential rulebased performance. Moreover, many individuals simply cannot articulate what they are doing or explain why one part of a problem triggers a particular response from them, which suggests that their activity is not entirely a neat and orderly process.

Nonetheless, there are clearly many instances in which individuals do engage in rule-based cognition, and production systems have to date provided our best means of modeling them. This is particularly apparent in well-specified domains from mathematics such as arithmetic, algebra, or probability, and in areas of physics such as electricity and magnetics. What is common in these domains is that there are highly specific rules that need to be acquired and applied by individuals in order to operate successfully in the domain. As a simple example, consider arithmetic operations. It would be the rare person who performed multiplication or long division without resorting to the use of a standard algorithm. Modeling the acquisition and use of such algorithms are precisely the areas in which production models excel.

On the other hand, connectionist models are weak in just these areas. Connectionist models excel in pattern recognition rather than in logical sequences of actions. Unlike production systems, connectionist models do not depend upon the firing of independent units such as rules. Rather, a collection of units (nodes) spread activation through their connections to other units. One does not trace the history of a cognitive process very easily in a connectionist model because of this feature. Subtle differences in the connection weights may yield large differences in model response. At any point in the process, it is the pattern of weights that matters, not the presence or absence or a particular unit.

A particular strength of connectionist models is the flexibility allowed for inputs. Because the models depend on the of weights over a great many units, the presence or absence of any single unit is usually unimportant. Any input typically is characterized by a great many units. Given the unique and complementary nature of the two approaches--the strength of the symbolic system for modeling sequences of actions and the strength of the connectionist approach for modeling pattern recognition--it is reasonable to anticipate hybrid models that will capitalize on their individual strengths. Surprisingly, few true hybrid models have yet emerged, although one suspects that the number under development is somewhat greater. One of the best examples available now was developed by Walter Schneider to model controlled or automated processes (Schneider & Oliver, in press).

The remainder of this report describes a particular hybrid model, a model of schema instantiation in arithmetic problem solving. This model utilizes both production systems and connectionist networks to represent schema knowledge.

Overview

Types of Schema Knowledge

Schema knowledge for problem solving consists of four major components: constraint knowledge, feature knowledge, planning knowledge, and execution knowledge (Marshall 1990; in press a, b, c). There are key issues involved in each type of knowledge, and each one demands its own distinct representation in the full model of a schema.

Constraint knowledge has to do with recognizing patterns. The question of interest is: Does the stimulus problem contain a pattern of elements sufficient to activate an existing schema? This pattern recognition is accomplished by a connectionist component of the model.

Feature knowledge, on the other hand, has to do with deciding whether the necessary elements are provided in the problem, given that the pattern has already been recognized as characteristic of a schema, so that the schema can be instantiated. This is a question best answered by a production system. There is also a connectionist part to this knowledge. Several potential patterns within one schema may exist in a problem, and the most reasonable or most likely one for solution needs to be recognized. This is a special case for competitive performance by all pattern candidates, to determine which pattern most strongly reflects the identified schema.

Planning knowledge is for the most part sequential and consists of setting goals and selecting operations for obtaining them. Again, a production system is appropriate. Planning knowledge guides the entire problem-solving process, and it calls on feature knowledge and constraint knowledge when it needs more detail or more elaboration about the problem. Finally, execution knowledge involves the step-by-step execution of already-learned algorithms, which again calls for a production system. Execution knowledge comes into play only when the plans call for it.

These types of schema knowledge have been the focus of a number of experimental studies as well as the target of our modeling efforts. Each experiment typically spanned several weeks and required subjects to participate in a number of different tasks at various times. All of the experiments involved the *Story Proble Solver (SPS)*, a computer-based instructional program about arithmetic story problems, and/or the *Problem Solving Environment (PSE)*, a graphical system in which students could practice what they learned under *SPS*. These systems are described elsewhere (Marshall, Barthuli, Brewer, & Rose, 1989; Marshall, 1991).

Both SPS and PSE were designed around schema theory. In particular, they were developed so that each of the four components of knowledge described above could be isolated and evaluated as students acquired their schema knowledge. The results of the experiments using these systems are given in several other papers (Marshall, 1991; Marshall, in press a, c). The importance of the experiments for the present report is that they provide empirical evidence against which our computer models can be evaluated.

The Performance Model of Constraint Knowledge

We focused our attention initially on models of constraint knowledge. We did so for two reasons: First, problem solving typically involves two general aspects: recognition of the important parts of the problem and appropriate application of techniques to these components to obtain a solution. The recognition aspect demands constraint knowledge, suggesting that constraint knowledge is an important initial point of access to schema knowledge. Second, we were interested in how individuals understand and retain new information about a concept or set of concepts. This, too, falls under constraint knowledge.

Constraint knowledge can be modeled very well using relatively common connectionist models. Two models were created: a model that can mimic the performance of subjects and a model which learns when given appropriate feedback. Both of these were developed and evaluated as a first step in building the complete hybrid model.

The model that simulates subject performance in identifying the situations given in simple story problems is described in full in Marshall (in press)¹. It is a

¹ The article referenced in this citation is reproduced in the chapter immediately preceding the present one in this final report. Details of the model are presented there.

three-layer feed-forward (and feed-lateral) model consisting of input units, a middle layer of interconnected units, and a set of output units.² The model takes as its input a binary vector having elements of 0 or 1, which represent 25 problem characteristics. The model produces as its output the identification of one of five situations that may occur in the story problem.

The input units are connected to a middle layer of units representing a subject's knowledge about the situations. This layer of knowledge nodes corresponds to the typical hidden unit layer found in many connection models, but it is not hidden in this instance. The nodes here derive from student interviews. Each student's interview about the situations was coded and transformed into a set of nodes and links among nodes. The model used this information to derive its output response. Again, full details of the simulation are given in Marshall (in press).

The performance simulated by the model is student response to a computerbased identification task. The model performed very well, simulating the performance of a number of students exactly and accounting for a large majority of responses for the rest. Both correct responses and specific errors were modeled.

The Learning Model³

The performance model provided the initial framework for the subsequent learning model. The input units for this model are essentially the same as for the performance model, as are the output units. A layer of hidden units replaces the knowledge nodes that derived from the student interviews in the performance model. Thus, these hidden units are hypothesized to exist but are unknown. Moreover, the nature of their connections to the inputs and outputs are unknown. The question of interest in this model is whether a connectionist model of this form can learn to make the appropriate classification of the five situations.

The optimum number of hidden units for this case is undetermined. Theoretically, it depends upon the optimum number of knowledge nodes that a student should acquire, and this number is not known. From the instructional

² The model can also be conceived as a four-layer feed-forward model in which the second and third layers contain the same units. This eliminates the problem of having activation spreading laterally among units at any level. To achieve independence at all levels, we insert a third layer of units that duplicates the units at the second layer. Connections exist from all original units at the second layer to their counterparts at the third layer and also to any other units to which they may be conceptually related.

³ In developing this model, we have drawn substantially from the models described in chapter 8 of Rumelhart & McClelland (1986) by Rumelhart, Hinton, & Williams as well as the extension of them in chapter 5 of McClelland & Rumelhart (1989).

experiment reported in Marshall (in press), the maximum number would be 33, the number of possible knowledge nodes. However, no student ever acquired all possible nodes, and it is not clear that having all of them would produce maximum performance. Several students made more than 90 percent successful responses with many fewer nodes. In SPS-based experiments, we observed that students typically acquired an average of 14 nodes. The range was 6 to 17. In general, having more nodes did not necessarily mean that students performed more successfully on the task.

Using the instructional experiment as a guideline, we include 14 hidden units in the learning model. As an initial simplification, the model is constrained to have 3 layers, eliminating the feed-lateral feature of the performance model. The three layers are the input layer, containing information about the problem to be classified; the hidden layer, containing units that correspond roughly to the knowledge nodes of the performance model; and the output layer, containing the names of the five possible situations.

The model requires specification of a learning rate, η . This rate defines how strongly the model reacts to incorrect answers with each trial. The learning rate must be chosen carefully so that the system will converge to the correct solution in a reasonable amount of time. A learning rate which is too large may cause the system to converge to an incorrect solution while a learning rate which is too small may prevent convergence in a practical amount of time (and perhaps at all). In general, for the network to stabilize (i.e., for learning to occur), the larger the number of hidden units, the lower the learning rate. We found that learning rates between .05 and .10 were most satisfactory.

For this model we also include a momentum factor, μ . This factor allows the system to carry over learning from previous problems when new problems are presented. As Rumelhart and McClelland (1989) point out, without the inclusion of a momentum factor, the system may converge to a "local" solution and stabilize there, even though there is a better "global" solution (p. 132). A suitably large μ prevents the model from getting stuck in such local solutions. In addition, a momentum term tends to speed up the model, because it allows the specification of a higher learning rate.

Testing the model corresponds to running it over enough trials for it to reach some pre-determined criterion. Each trial proceeds through the steps listed below:

o presentation of a randomly selected input vector;

o forward propagation of activation from input to hidden units and from hidden to output units; o calculation of the errors associated with each output unit;

o backward propagation of errors from output to hidden units;

o modification of the weights of the connections between all

layers of units based on the errors.

Each of the main components of the model are described briefly below.

The Task. The task for which this model was developed is to learn the appropriate classification of a set of 100 story problems according to the situations depicted in them. Each problem is represented by a set of characteristics which the model uses in making its classification. Five output responses are possible.

Inputs. The inputs to the model are the set of 100 binary vectors nearly identical to the ones described for the performance model (see above and Marshall, in press). Each vector represents one arithmetic story problem. The problem is coded according to the presence or absence of several general characteristics.

The difference between these input vectors and those of the performance model is the inclusion here of coded information about the form of the question stated in the problem. In the performance model and in the empirical studies simulated by it, the items were situational descriptions and contained no questions. Both the learning model and the hybrid model described below require problems rather than situation if we are to model the full problem-solving process.

In general, there are two options for item presentation: either the entire set is presented again and again in some fixed order, making an orderly cycle through the entire stimulus list and insuring that each item is presented an equal number of times; or each presentation is randomly determined at the time of the trial, so that every item in the set has an equal chance of being selected on every trial. We have implemented the latter, primarily because we wished to avoid any possible order effects and also because items were always randomly generated for students in our empirical learning experiments.

Outputs. The model outputs correspond to the identifications of situations given in the story problems. For each problem presented, the model can make one of five possible responses, one for each situation.

Input Units. In a single trial the layer of input units is comprised of one input vector. Each element of the input vector takes a value of 1 (if the characteristic it represents is present in the selected item) or 0 (if it is absent). The input vector to the learning model contains the original 25 elements used in the performance model plus the additional 2 elements to code the question, resulting in a 27-element vector.

Hidden Units. The middle layer of the model contains hidden units. Each of these is connected to every input unit in the layer below it and each in turn

contributes to the activation of all output units above it. As mentioned previously, there are 14 hidden units.

Output Units. Each situation is represented by one output unit. On each trial, following activation from the hidden unit layer directly below, each output unit has some level of activation. The one with the highest level is the model response for that trial.

Bias. Each hidden and output unit has a bias associated with it. The bias is added to the incident activation upon the units and functions like a threshold for the unit (cf Rumelhart). If insufficient activation is received at the unit to overcome the effect of the bias, then the output of the unit will be insignificant.

Input-to-Hidden Weights. As in most connectionist models, each of the input units connects to each of the units in the layer immediately above it, i.e., the hidden unit layer, and each connection has its own unique weight. When an input vector is presented to the model, activation spreads from the input units to the hidden units. The amount of activation spread is determined in part by the strength (i.e., weight) of the connection.

Hidden-to-Output Weights. Each hidden unit is connected to every output unit, and each has a strength or weight. The values of these weights are also randomly generated for the initial trial, using the same constraints as for the input-to-hidden weights.

Model Parameters and Initialization Values

The model requires that two parameters be set: the learning rate η and the momentum μ . For most of our tests, we have used $\eta = .07$ and $\mu = .9$.

Additionally, the model requires that each unit *i* have a bias term β_i and that each connection between a pair of units *i* and *j* have a starting weight ω_{ij} . The bias terms and the weights are generated initially from a uniform distribution ranging from -.005 to +.005.

Finally, the learning criterion must be set. This requires choosing a tolerance value that indicates how many--if any--errors will be allowed and specifying how large the output value must be in order to be considered correct. We use a 90 percent tolerance standard; that is, the model must correctly identify at least 90 of the 100 test items. To be considered a correct response, the appropriate output unit must have a value that is at least .25 larger than the next largest output unit.

Under the parameter selections and initialization values described here, the model converges at approximately 7,000 trials.





Technical Details of the Learning Model⁴

The model consists of the three-layer network shown in Figure 1, with each layer comprised of a set of units. Typically, one thinks of the input units as being at the bottom level of the model and the output units at the top, as in Figure 1. The hidden units make up the middle layer. Each layer is fully connected to the layers immediately above and/or below it, as shown in Figure 1.

We define the following elements of the model:

- η the learning rate;
- μ the momentum factor;
- α_i the activation that accumulates in each hidden or output unit *i*;
- λ_i the activation that spreads from unit *i* to units above it;
- $\boldsymbol{\omega}_{ij}$ the weight associated with the connection between units *i* and *j*;
- $\boldsymbol{\beta}_i$ the bias associated with unit *i*;
- τ_i the target level of output activation; externally set as 1 if the output unit *i* represents the correct situation or 0 if it does not;
- $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_i$ the error associated with unit *i*.

The model learns by processing an input vector and forward propagating activation from the lowest level to the highest, by calculating the error at this highest level and then backward propagating the error down through all levels, and by adjusting all weights connecting pairs of activated units accordingly.

The activation spreading out from a unit is defined as:

 $\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{i} = \begin{cases} 1 & or & 0 & \text{if } i \text{ is an input unit} \\ \frac{1}{1 + e^{-\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i}}} + \boldsymbol{\beta}_{i} & \text{if } i \text{ is a hidden or output unit} \end{cases}$

⁴ All programs for the models in this report were written in C++ and run on a PC-80486 workstation.

where β_i is the bias associated with unit i and α_i is the activation that has accumulated into the unit from the layer of units below. The accumulated activation is determined by:

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_i = \sum_{j=1}^J \boldsymbol{\omega}_{ij} \boldsymbol{\lambda}_j.$$

If *i* is a hidden unit, *j* refers to input units, and the summation occurs over all weights between a hidden unit and the input units at the level below and the λ_j 's of the input units. If *i* is an output unit, *j* refers to hidden units. Each of the units *j* at the level below unit *i* will have an associated λ_j which influences unit *i*. Note that α_i is defined only for hidden and output units.

The spread of activation begins with the input units. Those with values of 1 activate their associated hidden units which in turn pass some of the activation to the output units (by means of their λ_i 's). When the forward propagation of activation is completed, for every output unit *i* the difference between τ_i and λ_i is used to compute the error ε_i :

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_i = (\boldsymbol{\tau}_i - \boldsymbol{\lambda}_i) \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\lambda}_i}{\partial \boldsymbol{\alpha}_i}$$

where the derivative can be expressed as

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\lambda}_i}{\partial \boldsymbol{\alpha}_i} = \boldsymbol{\lambda}_i (1 - \boldsymbol{\lambda}_i)$$

thus yielding a final form for the unit's error of

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_i = (\boldsymbol{\tau}_i - \boldsymbol{\lambda}_i) \boldsymbol{\lambda}_i (1 - \boldsymbol{\lambda}_i)$$

with all terms as defined above. The error signal is then passed to the hidden units by:

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{J} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{j} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{ij} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{i}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i}} = \sum_{j=1}^{J} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{j} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{ij} \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{i} (1 - \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{i})$$

for each hidden unit *i*. The summation occurs over all output units j. Input units do not accumulate error.

After the error signal has propagated backwards through the network, the weights are adjusted by:

$$\boldsymbol{\omega}_{ii}(t) = \boldsymbol{\omega}_{ii}(t-1) + \Delta \boldsymbol{\omega}_{ii}(t)$$

where t indicates the current trial and (t - 1) is the previous trial. The amount of change is determined by:

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{\omega}_{ii}(t) = \boldsymbol{\eta} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{i} \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{i} + \boldsymbol{\mu} (\Delta \boldsymbol{\omega}_{ii}(t-1))$$

Note that w_{ij} emanating from input units with initial values of 0 will receive no adjustment. A similar adjustment is made for the bias terms, with

$$\boldsymbol{\beta}_{i}(t) = \boldsymbol{\beta}_{i}(t-1) + \Delta \boldsymbol{\beta}_{i}(t)$$

and the amount of change is computed by

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{\beta}_{i}(t) = \boldsymbol{\eta} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{i} \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{i} + \boldsymbol{\mu} (\Delta \boldsymbol{\beta}_{i}(t-1)).$$

After the weights and biases have been adjusted, the activation and error terms are reset to zero for the next trial. The only carryover from trial to trial is contained in the weights, the biases, and their delta values $(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{ij}, \boldsymbol{\beta}_i, \Delta \boldsymbol{\omega}_{ij}, \text{and } \Delta \boldsymbol{\beta}_i)$.

The model runs with alternating learning and testing phases. The learning phase runs in blocks of 100 trials. At the conclusion of every block of trials, the model suspends the backwards propagation of error and runs a performance test over all input vectors to determine whether it has yet reached a specified criterion for successful learning. During a testing phase, the model maintains an unchanging set of weights, which is the set reached on the last trial of the previous learning phase.

The criterion for learning is the correct response to at least 90 of the 100 input items, with "correctness" established as the activation of the appropriate output unit *i* and with λ_i at least .25 larger than the next largest activation value for any output unit. In practice, the system typically converges with 94-97 items correct in the testing phase. Given the fact that λ_i ranges only from 0 to 1, a difference between two values of .25 is highly significant.

During the testing phase, each of the 100 input vectors is presented in a fixed order to the model and a response is generated following the spread of

activation as before. The response is scored as correct or incorrect, and the next vector is presented. If the model fails to reach the defined criterion (i.e., errs on more than 10 of the items), the learning phase resumes with another block of trials. When the model reaches the defined criterion, the weights are stored for later use, to be described below.

The Hybrid Model

The hybrid model developed to solve story problems has the form shown in Figure 2.⁵ It has three main components: two production systems, represented in the figure by the decision boxes and arrows, and a connectionist network, represented in the figure as a set of nodes and links. All of these interact with each other, indicated in the figure by the arrows leading into and out of the rectangle in the middle of the figure. The connectionist model of Figure 2 is the identical model described under the learning model. It performs here in its testing mode; at this point the model is presumed to have learned the classifications, and no additional changes in weights occur. The weights used to compute a response for the hybrid model are those that were saved when the learning model reached its learning criterion.

The problem input to the full model now includes more than the vector of characteristics used in the performance and learning models. In addition to this vector--which remains the input to the connectionist part of the hybrid model--problem input consists of specific detail about the quantities found in the problem. This information is encoded by dividing the problem into several clauses. Each clause contains three types of information: owner, object, and time.

An example of clause coding for a specific problem is given in Table 1. *Owner* contains two fields: name and type. *Object* contains four fields: name, type, value, and action. The action will contain such information as is necessary to determine which arithmetic operation to use. For example, an action might be increase, decrease, more, or less. The final type of clause information is *Time*, which contains just one field that indicates a relative time of occurrence within the problem. A clause may contain multiple owners and multiple objects, and it may omit time. The clause information is provided as input to the smaller production system (indicated by the arrow in Figure 2).

⁵ In this figure and others depicting hybrid models, we do not attempt to represent all units of the model. Rather, in the interest of having simple and easy-to-understand representations, we show only a few units at each level. Likewise, we do not show all rules that are part of the production system.

Figure 2: The Hybrid Model



When a problem is presented to the model, the connectionist network makes the appropriate recognition of the situation using the input vector as before, and it passes that information into a common area accessed by all parts of the model (represented by the rectangle). From here the information is available to the smaller production system (on the left side of the figure). This production system has as its goal the recognition of relevant elements of the problem once the situation is known. It passes its results back into the common area to be used by the connectionist network again if necessary or by the larger production system, which will produce a numerical solution.

The additional information derived from the clauses is used by the production system to determine which values of the problem are known, which are unknown, and their relationship to each other. Just as the recognition of the situation uses constraint knowledge about story problems, the selection of relevant pieces of the problem uses feature knowledge. To illustrate what we mean by feature knowledge, we describe briefly the change situation. A change situation is characterized by a permanent alteration over time in a measurable quantity of a single, specified thing. Thus, the model must confirm that only one thing is represented in the clauses. There are three aspects to a change situation: a starting amount, an amount by which it is to be changed, and an ending amount. The model must check that there are three available amounts, even if one of them is unknown. A change takes place over time, so the model looks for three distinct times to be represented in the change situation. The production system works through the clauses, confirming that similar elements are involved and placing the values from the problem on a list that can be used by the larger production system in the model.

Thus, for the hybrid model of Figure 2, the constraint knowledge is modeled by the connectionist network, and the feature knowledge is modeled by a production system. In the full hybrid model of schema knowledge, relevant feature and constraint knowledge are used to plan a solution. Thus, the input to the planning component of the hybrid model is the output from the feature production system coupled with the output from the connectionist model of constraint knowledge. Together, they provide sufficient information for the planning production system to set a series of goals and to call on the appropriate execution knowledge for achieving them. Table 1 illustrates some of the production rules.

Of the four types of knowledge that comprise a schema, we consider execution knowledge to be the least interesting, and we have made little attempt to model how individuals learn the basic arithmetic operations. We take as given that these are in place. Our argument here is that there already exist production systems designed to model the acquisition and use of the algorithms of addition, subtraction, multiplication and division. The model here focuses instead on the selection of the appropriate values from the problem to use in carrying out necessary computations. Thus, the errors that can be modeled are those reflecting mistakes in selecting pieces of the problem or in selecting an operation to be carried out. Errors of computing are not possible (i.e., $3 \times 4 = 7$). The consequence of this assumption about algorithms is that we have not constructed a separate production system to make the computations, although it would be easy to do so.⁶

The model is instantiated with input to the connectionist model in the lower portion of Figure 2. The input consists of a single binary vector representing all information in the multi-step problem. Thus, pointers to more than one situation typically occur. The connectionist network identifies the most salient situation, and passes that information to the feature identifier (represented in Figure 2 as the smaller of the two production systems). Using the output from the connectionist network together with the clause information, this part of the model determines the best configuration of data to represent the selected situation. Several configurations may be possible. The production system selects a subset of clauses to represent each one. If there are multiple configurations, each one is then evaluated using the original connectionist model. For each configuration the production system creates a new input vector that contains only the information of the selected clauses. The output values associated with each input vector are compared, and the input vector leading to the highest value is selected as the immediate problem to be solved. The identified situation and its subset of clauses are then passed to the planning component of the schema. Thus, feature knowledge (i.e. the production system) and constraint knowledge (i.e., the connectionist network) interact to provide the necessary information that will be used to plan the solution.

A plan begins with the creation of a goal stack in which the top level goal is to produce a numerical solution. Additional goals are added to the stack and removed as they are achieved. A number of different goals are addressed by the production system. Some have to do with locating the unknown in the problem. Others center on carrying out the appropriate computations. Like feature knowledge and constraint knowledge, planning knowledge is schema-specific. The model uses its knowledge about the current schema to develop plans for solving the problem.

Table 1 illustrates a number of different goals and the steps the model takes to achieve them. The model attempts to solve the first subproblem it recognizes. If it is successful at this point, the solution is passed back to the planning component

⁶ An additional reason to omit the modeling of computational errors is that the subjects whose performance we have studied rarely make these errors. All of our subjects have been college students with poor problem-solving skills. They are proficient in computation but not in problem solving.

which then must determine whether the entire problem has been solved or only a sub-problem. A number of things feed into this determination. First, the connectionist network is called upon to find any other plausible situations after the first one has been removed from the problem. A check is carried out to see if there are additional unknowns anywhere in the known problem structure. If potential subproblems are discovered, their clauses and relevant input information is fed back into the model, and the entire cycle begins again. If no additional sub-problems are recognized, the model produces as its answer the computed value for the last sub-problem it solved. Table 1 contains a complete trace of the model's activity for a multi-step problem.

The hybrid model is able to solve problems having more than one unknown. Such problems are common in arithmetic and algebra, and they are frequently studied because students do not routinely solve them easily. The different components of the model pass information back and forth as necessary. For some problems, a re-cycling through the connectionist network will be unnecessary because only one configuration will be possible. For other problems, the model may move back and forth between the connectionist network and the production systems until it develops enough information to create a workable plan.

Thus far, the hybrid model successfully solves problems of the type illustrated in Table 1. Extensions of the model to deal with more complex problems are ongoing, as are comparisons of human and model solutions. The initial findings are encouraging. The hybrid model presented here can solve single or multiple-step problems, and it produces solutions that appear similar to human subjects' solutions.

Table 1: Hybrid Model Output for a Multi-Step Problem

.

.

•

Model Output:		Annotated Description of Output:		
Joe won \$ for his two he bought his lottery	100 in the state lottery. He spent some of it on toys o children. He bought a doll for Sue that cost \$25 and t a stuffed bear for Ellen that cost \$28. How much of winnings did he have after he bought the toys?	Problem Text		
111010	000010100001001000100	Input Vector for Connectionist Model		
owner object time	Joe person doilars doilars 100.000000 none 0	First Clause		
owner object time	Joe person dollars dollarsUNKNOWN decrease; toys toys UNKNOWN none 1	Second Clause		
owner object time	Joe person amount dollars 25.000000 decrease; doll toys 1.000000 increase 1	Third Clause		
owner object time	Joe person amount dollars 28.000000 decrease; stuffed_bear toys 1.000000 increase 1	Fourth Clause		
owner object time	Joe person dollars dollars UNKNOWN none 2	Fifth Clause		
0.369 0.38	88 0.301 0.280 0.321> GR	First sub-problem identification by connectionist model.		
* Combo: Combo: Combo:	1 2 3	The possible configurations. * indicates the one that yields the highest activation value (found via small production system and evaluated with connectionist model).		
owner object	Joe person dollars dollars UNKNOWN decrease; toys toys UNKNOWN none	The clauses that contribute to the configuration selected by the connectionist model as best. The identification of the GROUP situation and the clause		
time	1	information is passed to the next component of the model which sets the initial goal and determines which values will be		
owner object	Joe person amount dollars 25.000000 decrease; doll toys 1.000000 increase	used in solving the problem.		
time	1			
owner object	Joe person amount dollars 28.000000 decrease; stuffed_bear toys 1.000000 increase			
time	1			

Table 1 continued:

Model Output:

Entering ExecuteRules Production Rule: 25 Goal_Stack:: ID_NUMBER-SUBGROUPS SOLVE ProblemValues: UNKNOWN 25.00 28.00

Production Rule: 26 Goal_Stack: ID_NUMBER-SUBGROUPS SOLVE ProblemValues: UNKNOWN 25.00 28.00

Production Rule: 27 Goal_Stack: SOLVE ProblemValues: UNKNOWN 25.00 28.00

Production Rule: 28 Goal_Stack: ID_PART_GR SOLVE ProblemValues: UNKNOWN 25.00 28.00

Production Rule: 30 Goal_Stack: SUPERGROUP ID_PART_GROUP SOLVE ProblemValues: UNKNOWN 25.00 28.00

Production Rule: 32 Goal_Stack: SUPERGROUP ID_PART_GROUP SOLVE ProblemValues: UNKNOWN 25.00 28.00

Production Rule: 33 Goal_Stack: SUPERGROUP ID_PART_GROUP SOLVE ProblemValues: 53.00 25.00 28.00

Production Rule: 34 Goal_Stack: ID_PART_GROUP SOLVE Problem Values: 53.00 25.00 28.00

Production Rule: 29 Goal_Stack: SOLVE ProblemValues: 53.00 25.00 28.00

Production Rule: 24 ProblemValues: 53.00 25.00 28.00

Production Rule: 0 Partial Answer = 53.000000

Annotated Description of Output:

IF	{the top goal is SOLVE, the situation is GROUP, and the number of subgroups is not known}
THEN	{add a new goal of identifying the number of subgroups.}
IF	{the number of subgroups is unknown and the goal is to find the number of subgroups}
THEN	{count the number of subgroups and store the value}
ſF	{the goal is to find the number of subgroups and that number is now known}
THEN	{delete the goal from the goal stack}
IF	{the goal is SOLVE, the situation is GROUP, the number of subgroups is known, and there is an unknown in the problem}
THEN	{set a new goal to find out which part of the problem is unknown}
lF	{the answer is unknown, the goal is to identify where the unknown is located, and if it is in the supergroup location}
THEN	{add the goal of computing the supergroup to the goal stack}
ſF	{the answer is unknown, and the goal is to find the supergroup}
THEN	{add all subgroup values and store the result as the answer}
IF	{the goal is to find the supergroup, and the answer is known}
THEN	{store this information in the problem values}
if Then	{the goal is to find the supergroup and it is known} {delete the goal from the goal stack}
IF	{the goal is to identify the missing part of a group problem but there are no missing parts}
THEN	{delete the goal from the goal stack}
IF	{the goal is to solve the problem but there are no unknowns}
THEN	{remove the goal from the goal stack}
IF THEN	{the goal stack is empty} {return the answer}

The first sub-problem has been solved.

Table 1 continued:

Model Output:

0.481 0.357 0.381 0.370 0.368 ----> CH

* Combo: 1

owner Joe person object dollars dollars 100.000000 none time 0

owner Joe person object dollars dollars 53.000000 decrease; toys toysUNKNOWN none time 1

owner	Joe person
object	doilars doilars UNKNOWN none
time	2

Entering ExecuteRules Production Rule: 1 Goal_Stack: ID_PART_CHANGE_SOLVE ProblemValues: 100.00 53.00 UNKNOWN

Production Rule: 16 Goal_Stack:END ID_PART_CHANGE SOLVE ProblemValues: 100.00 53.00 UNKNOWN

Production Rule: 18 Goal_Stack: END ID_PART_CHANGE SOLVE ProblemValues: 100.00 53.00 UNKNOWN

Production Rule: 19 Goal_Stack: END ID_PART_CHANGE SOLVE ProblemValues: 100.00 53.00 47.00

Production Rule: 20 Goal_Stack: ID_PART_CHANGE SOLVE ProblemValues: 100.00 53.00 47.00

Production Rule: 5 Goal_Stack: SOLVE ProblemValues: 100.00 53.00 47.00

Production Rule: 4 ProblemValues: 100.00 53.00 47.00 Partial Answer = 47.000000

Final Answer = 47.000000

Annotated Description of Model Output:

At this point the system re-examines the original input to determine if there are other situations containing other problems to be solved. It finds a CHANGE, and there is only one possible configuration.

The necessary clauses are identified for the planning and execution components.

The system recognizes that there is an unknown value for the object toy but disregards it in favor of the selected change configuration.

The proc	luction begins a new cycle:
IF	{the goal is to solve the problem; the
	situation is CHANGE; and there is
	an unknown value on the value_list}
THEN	{add a new goal of identifying which
	part of the Change situation is unknown}
IF	{the goal is to identify the which part of the
	problem has an unknown and if the last
	element of the value_list is unknown}
THEN	{add a new goal of finding the end_result}
IF	{if the goal is to find the end_result and
	the direction of change is negative}
THEN	{set ANSWER to the difference between the
	start_amount and the amount_of_change}
IF	{the goal is to find the end_result and there
	is only one unknown value in the value_list
	and if a value is known for ANSWER}
THEN	{replace the unknown in the value_list
	with the value of ANSWER}
IF	{the goal is to find the end_result and
	there are no unknowns in the value_list}
THEN	{delete the goal from the goal stack}
IF	{the goal is to identify a missing part but
	all parts are known}
THEN	{delete the goal from the goal stack}
IF	{the goal is to solve the problem but
	there are no unknowns}
THEN	{pop the goal from the goal stack}
IF	{the goal stack is empty}
THEN	{return the answer}

References

- Anderson, J. A. (1990). Hybrid computation in cognitive science: Neural networks and symbols. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 4, 337-347.
- Bereiter, C. (1991). Implications of connectionism for thinking about rules. *Educational Researcher*, 20, 10-16.
- Johnson-Laird, P. (1988). The computer and the mind. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Marshall, Sandra P. (1990). The assessment of schema knowledge for arithmetic story problems: A cognitive science perspective. In G. Kulm (Ed.), Assessing higher order thinking in mathematics. Washington, D.C.: AAAS.
- Marshall, Sandra P. (in press). Assessing schema knowledge. In N. Frederiksen, R. Mislevy, & I. Bejar (Eds.), *Test Theory for a New Generation of Tests*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. [a]
- Marshall, Sandra P. (in press). Assessment of rational number understanding: A schema-based approach. In T. Carpenter, E. Fennema, & T. Romberg, Rational Numbers: An Integration of Research. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. [b]
- Marshall, Sandra P. (in press). Statistical and cognitive models of learning through instruction. To appear in Meyrowitz, A. L. & Chipman, S. (Eds.), *Cognitive Models of Complex Learning*. Norwell, MA: Kluwer Academic Publishers. [c]
- Marshall, Sandra P., Barthuli, Kathryn E., Brewer Margaret A., & Rose, Frederic E. (1989). STORY PROBLEM SOLVER: A schema-based system of instruction. Technical Rep. CRMSE 89-01 (ONR Contract N00014-85-K-0661), San Diego: San Diego State University.
- Marshall, Sandra P. (1991). Computer-Based Assessment of Schema Knowledge in a Flexible Problem-Solving Environment. Technical Rep. CRMSE 91-01 (ONR Grant N00014-89-J-1143), San Diego: San Diego State University.

- McClelland, J. L., & Rumelhart, D. E. (1989). Explorations in parallel distributed processing: A handbook of models, programs, and exercises. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Minsky, M. (1991). Logical versus analogical or symbolic versus connectionist or neat versus scruffy. AI Magazine, Summer 1991, 35-51.
- Rumelhart, D. E., Hinton, G. E., & Williams, R. J. (1986). Learning internal representations by error propagation. In Rumelhart, D. E. & McClelland, J. L. (Eds.), *Parallel distributed processing, Volume 1: Foundations* (pp. 318-362). Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Schneider, W. & Oliver, W. L. (in press). An instructable connectionist/control architecture: Using rule-based instructions to accomplish connectionist learning in a human time scale. To appear in K. VanLehn (Ed.), Architectures for intelligence. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum Associates.
- Winger, E. (1987). Artificial intelligence and tutoring systems. Los Altos, CA: Morgan Kaufmann Publishers, Inc.

NSTRIBUTION LIST

Washington, DC 20375-5000 Ms. Liss B. Achille Naval Research Lab Overlook Drive Code 5530

Minneapolia, MN 55455 University of Minnesota Dr. Phillip L. Ackerman **Dept of Psychology** 75 Fast River Road N218 Filost Hall

Educational Psychology 260C Education Bldg. University of Illinois Dr. Terry Ackerman

Champaign, IL 61801 Dept of Psychology Rutgers University Dr. Beth Adelson

Aherdeen Prooving Grounds Human Engineering Lab ATTN: SLCHE-D Director

Alexandria, VA 22333

Human Factors Div., Code 261 Naval Training Systems Ctr 12350 Research Parkway Orlando, FL 32826 Dr. Robert Ahlers

Technical Document Center Wright-Patterson AFB OH 45433-6503 AL/HGR-TDC

San Diego, CA 92152-6800 Dr. David L. Alderton NPRUC, Code 131

Arlington, VA 22217-5000 ONR Code 1142CS 300 N. Qeincy St. Dr. Terry Allard

Educational Testing Service Princeton, NJ 08541 Dr. Nancy Allen

Dept. of Cog. & Ling. Sciences Dr. James A. Anderson Providence, RI 02912 Brown University Box 1978

Department of Psychology Camegie-Mellon University Pittaburgh, PA 15213 Dr. John R. Anderson

Department of Psychology College Part, MD 20742 University of Maryland Dr. Nancy S. Anderson

Dr. Stephen J. Antriole College of Information Studies Drexel University

Educational Testing Service Philadelphia, PA 19104 Dr. Gregory Anrig

Princeton, NJ 08541

Graduate Sch. of Management **Rugers University** Dr. Phipps Arable 92 New Street

Newark, NJ 07102-1895 5001 Eisenhower Avenue Technical Director, ARI

Camden, NJ 08102

Rockville, MD 20850 13705 Lakewood Ci. Edward Atkins

MD 219005-5001

GERMANY

While Plains, NY 10604 NYNEX AI Laboratory 500 Westchester Avenue Dr. Michael E. Atwood

Medical Research Connell Applied Psychology Unit Cambridge CB2 2EF Dr. Alan Baddeley 15 Chaucer Road ENGLAND

610 E. University, Rm 1302D Ann Arbor, MI 48109-1259 University of Michigan School of Education Dr. Patricia Baggett

Navy Personnel R&D Center San Diego, CA 92152-6800 Dr. Meryl S. Balter

Division of Biology, 216-76 Ca. Institute of Technology Pasadena, CA 91125 Dr. Pierre Baldi

inkelligenza artificiale Universita di Milano ITALY prof. dott. Brano G. Barn Unita di ricerca di

Dept. of Educ. Psychology Vinneapoils, MN 55455 Jaiversity of Minnesota 78 Pillsbury Dr., S.E. Dr. William M. Bart 330 Burton Hall

Regulatory Commission Washington DC 20555 United States Nuclear eo Beltracchi

Educational Testing Service Princeton, NJ 08541 Dr. Isaac I. Bejar

Bolling AFB, DC 20332-6448 APOSRANL, NI, BIdg. 410 Dr. William O. Berry

Educational Testing Service Dr. Menucha Birenbaum Princeton, NJ 08541

Personalstammant der Bundeswehr FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF Dr. Werner P. Birke Kolner Strasse 262 D-5000 Koein 90

Dep of Computer Science Vanderbilt University Nashville, TN 37235 Box 1688, Station B Dr. Gautam Biswas

Teachers College, Box 8 525 West 120th Street New York, NY 10027 Columbia University Dr. John Black

Dr. Michael Blackburn Code 943 Naval Ocean Systems Center San Diego, CA 92152-5000

University Hall, Room 218 Providence, RI 02912 Dr. Shella Blumstein Brown University

Dr. Deborah A. E. Jath-Davis Department of Psychology Fulrfax, VA 22030-444 George Mason University 4400 University Drive

Wright-Patterson AFB OH 45433-6573 Dr. Kenneth R. Boff ALCEH

Guidance Technology, Inc. Pitteburgh, PA 15212 800 Vintal Street Dr. Jeff Bonar

Department of Psychology George Mason University 1400 University Drive Dr. C. Alan Boneau Fairfax, VA 22030

Standards and Technology Manufacturing Eng. Lab National Institute of Dr. J. C. Boudrenux

Department of Psychology Gaithersburg, MD 20899 Dr. Gordon H. Bower Stanford University

Stanford, CA 94306

Naval Training Systems Center Ottando, FL 32826-3224 Dr. Robert Breaux Code 252

Graduate School of Education EMST-4533 Tolman Hall University of California Berkeley, CA 94720 Dr. Ann Brown

iames S. McDonnell Foundation 034 South Brentwood Blvd. St. Louis, MO 63117 Dr. John T. Bruer Suite 1610

Dr. Joanne Capper 3545 Albernarle Street, NW Washington, DC 20008

111 Cummington St., Room 244 Center for Adaptive Systems Boston, MA 02215 Boston University Dr. Gail Carpenter

Carnegie-Mellon University Department of Psychology Pittsburgh, PA 15213 Dr. Pat Carpenter

Educational Testing Service Dr. Eduardo Cascallar Princeton, NJ 08541 Rosedale Road

School of Psychology Georgia Institute of Technology Atlanta, GA 30332-0170 Dr. Richard Catrambone

Carnegie Mellon University Piusborgh, PA 15213 CDEC, Hamberg Hall Dr. Ruth W. Chabay

1911 North Pt. Myer Dr Dr. Paul R. Chateller Perceptronics

University of Pittsburgh Learning R & D Center Arlington, VA 22209 Dr. Michelene Chi Suite 1100

National Science Foundation Washington, DC 20550 Pituburgh, PA 15260 1800 G Street, NW Dr. Y. T. Chlen

Cognitive Science Program Adington, VA 22217-5000 Office of Naval Research 800 North Quincy St. Dr. Susan Chipman

UES LAMP Science Advisor Dr. Raymond E. Christal Brooks AFB, TX 78235 ALHRMIL

Dr. William J. Clancey Ē

University of South Carolina Department of Psychology Dr. David E. Clement

Palo Alto, CA 94304

2550 Hanover Street

Chief of Naval Education and Columbia, SC 29208 fraining (N-5)

NAS Pensacola, FL 32508 Education Building Purdue University Dr. Paul Cobb

W. Lafayette, IN 47907

5600 Fishers Lane, Rm 11C-10 Cognitive Science Research NIMH, Basic Bebavior and Rockville, MD 20857 Dr. Rodney Cocking

Washington, DC 20375-5000 Naval Research Laboratory Commanding Officer Code 4827

Department of Psychology New York, NY 10027 Columbia University **Dr. Lynn A. Cooper**

Dr. Michael Cowen NPRDC Code 142

San Diego, CA 92152-6800 Dr. William Crano

Santa Barbarn, CA 93102 Anacapa Sciences, Inc. Dr. Kenneth B. Cross P.O. Box 519

3939 O'Harra Street

College Station, TX 77843

Department of Psychology

Texas A&M University

Monterry, CA 93940-5380 CTB/McGraw-Hill Library 2500 Garden Road

Director, Cir for Cog. Science Columbus, OH 43210-1102 208 Ohio Stadium East 1961 Tuttle Park Place Dr. Peter Culicover

Psychology Department University of Arizona Tuscon, AZ 85721 Dr. Denise Cummins

Lowry AFB, CO 80230-5000 **Fraining Technology Branch** 3400 TCHTW/TTOZ Brian Dallman

Univ. of Iowa Medical School Department of Neurology Iowa City, Iowa 52242 Dr. Antonio Damasio

Dept. of Human Factors Dr. Diane Damos

Los Angeles, CA 90089-0021 Univ. of Southern California ISSM

Educational Testing Service Photeton, NJ 08541 Dr. Charles E. Davis

Benjamin Bldg., Rm. 1230F Measurement, Stat. & Eval. College Park, MD 20742 University of Maryland Dr. Raiph J. De Ayala

Applied Science Associates Margaret Day, Librarian Butler, PA 16003 P.O. Box 1072

San Francisco, CA 94123 **Geory Delacote** 3601 Lyon Street Exploratorium

Department of Psychology University of Wisconsin Madison, WI 53706 Dr. Sharon Derry

Department of Psychology Champaign, IL 61820 603 East Daniel Street University of Illinois Dr. Stephanle Doane

Department of Psychology Champaign, IL 61820 603 East Daniel Street Dr. Emmuel Donchia University of Illinois

Vancouver, BC CANADA V6T University of British Columbia **Paculty of Education** Dr. J. Stuart Dorn 2125 Main Mall 124

Alexandra, VA 22333-5600 5001 Elsenhower Avenu Army Research Institute Basic Research Office Dr. Michael Drillings

Cameron Station, Bldg 5 Alexandria, VA 22314 Information Center Defense Technical (2 Coples)

Organization for Economic Cooperation and Dev. 2, rue Andre-Pascal Dr. Pierre Duguet **5016 PARIS** FRANCE

Graduate School of Education Santa Barbana, CA 93106 University of California Dr. Richard Duran

University of North Carolina Chapel Hill, NC 27599 Department of Psychology Dr. Howard Elchenbaum CB #3279 Davies Hall

Division of Special Education The University of Arizona Tucson, AZ 85721 College of Education Dr. Nancy Eldredge

San Diego, CA 92152-6800 NPRDC Code 15 Dr. John Ellis

Psychology Department Dr. Susan Embretaon University of Kansas Lawrence, KS 66045 126 Francer

Div. of Educational Studies Ernory University Dr. George Engelhard, Jr. 210 Fishburne Bidg. Atianta, GA 30322

Naval Ocean Systems Center Dr. Carl E. Englund Code 442

San Diego, CA 92152-5000 144 S. Mountain Avenue Dr. Susan Epstein

Moniclair, NJ 07042

ERIC Facility-Acquisitions 2440 Research Bivd., Sie 550 Rockville, MD 20850-3238

Department of Psychology Boulder, CO 80309-0345 Dr. K. Anders Ericsson University of Colorado Campus Box 345

Dept. of Computer Science Illinois Institute of Technoogy 10 West 31st Street Chicago, IL 60616 Dr. Martha Evens

Office of Personnel Research Development Copment. 1900 E St., NW Dr. Lorraine D. Eyde US Office of Personnel Management

-

Direttore Generale LEV ADIFE Piazzałe K. Adenauer, 3 00144 ROMA EUR ITALY Dr. Franco Faina

Washington, DC 20415

5001 Elsenhower Avenue Army Research Institute Dr. Beatrice J. Farr PERI-IC

Alexandria, VA 22333

2520 North Vernon Street Arlington, VA 22207 Arlington, VA 22207 Dr. Marshall J. Farr Farr-Sight Co.

San Diego, CA 92152-6800 NPRDC Code 51 Dr. P-A. Federico

American College Testing Dr. Richard L. Ferguson OWB City, IA 52243 P.O. Box 168

Naval Ocean Systems Center Code 423 Dr. Kathleen Fernandes San Diego, CA 92152

Mr. Wallace Fenrzeig

Educational Technology Bolt Bennek & Newman Cambridge, MA 02238 **10 Moulton St.**

Department of Psychology Rockville, MD 20850 Montgomery College Dr. Victor Fields

Dr. Gerhard Flacher Liebiggasse 5 A 1010 Vienna NUSTRIA

Dept. of Engr & Public Policy **Camegie-Mellon University** Prof. Barach Fischhoff Pittsburgh, PA 15213

Institute for Defense Analyses 1809 N. Beauregard St. Alexandria, VA 22311 Dr. J. D. Fletcher

Carnegie-Mellon University Department of English Pittsburgh, PA 15213 Dr. Linda Flower

Dept. of Educ. Psychology Dr. Carl H. Frederiksen 1700 McTavish Street CANADA H3A 1Y2 McGill University Montreal, Quebec

Educational Testing Service Dr. Norman Frederiksen Princeton, NJ 08541

Bolling AFB, DC 20332-6448 APOSRANL, BIdg. 410 Dr. Alfred R. Fregly

Department of Psychology University of Alberta Dr. Alinda Friedman Edmonton, Alberta CANADA T6G 2E9 •

hychology Department **X. Michael Friendly** CANADA M311P3 fort University Foronto ONT

Department of Psychology Vorthwestern University Dr. John D. E. Gabrieli **102 Swift Hall**

Director of Cognitive Science Evanation, IL 60208 Dr. Merill F. Garrett

Department of Psychology, Room

University of Arizona Factor, AZ 85721

Department of Pscyhology Princeton, NJ 08544-1010 Minceton University Dr. Jack J. Gelfand

Northwestern University Department of Psychology Svanston, IL 60208-2710 2029 Sheridan Road Wift Hall, Rm 102 Dr. Dedre Gentner

Dept of Computer Science George Mason University Feirfax, VA 22030

EEG Systems Laboratory 51 Federal Street, Suite 401 San Francisco, CA 94107 Dr. Alan S. Gevins

Naval Research Lab., Code 530 4555 Overlook Avenue, S. W. Wathington, DC 20375-5000 Dr. Helen Gigley

Port Gordon, GA 30905 VITN: PERI-ICD ARI-Fort Gordon Dr. Philip Gillis

Dr. Herbert Ginsburg 525 West 121st Street Columbia University **Feachers** College Box 184

Educational Testing Service Minceton, NJ 08541 Dr. Drew Gilomer

New York, NY 10027

Defense Logistic Agency Systems Automation Ctr. Ar. Mott Given O. Box 1605

DSAC-TMP, Building 27-1 Columbus, OH 43216-5002

cesberg, VA 22075 **105 Davis Avenue** Mr. Lee Gladwin

octville, MD 20857 **N. Dennis Glanzman** 600 Hahens Lane Parkiawn Bidg. HMIN

Dr. Robert Glaser

Jaiversity of Pitubargh Pittsbergh, PA 15260 1939 O'Ham Street LRDC

University of Wisconsin 1202 W. Johnson Street Madison, WI 53706 Dr. Arthur M. Glenberg

Dr. Marvin D. Glock 101 Homestead Terrace lthaca, NY 14856

Center for Molecular and Behavioral Neuroactence 197 University Avenue Newarts, NJ 07102 Dr. Mark A. Gluck Rutgers University

Dr. Sam Glackaierg Department of Psychology Princeton University Princeton, NJ 08544-1010

RG. Univ. of Oxford Prof. Joseph Goguen MODONIX GATINU Oxford OX13QD 11 Keble Road

Dr. Bert Oreen

Department of Psychology Chartottesville, VA 22903 University of Virginia Dr. Paul E. Gold

Section of Neurobiology, C303 Dr. Patricia Goldman-Rakic Vew Haven, CT 06510 333 Cedar Street ale University

Peabody College, Box 45 Vanderbilt University Nashville, TN 37203 Dr. Susan R. Goldman

Department of Psychology University of New Mexico Albuquerque, NM 87131 **X. Timothy Goldsmith**

1200 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. Department Civil Engineering Washington, DC 2008 Mr. Harold Goldstein Bidg. 42, Room 112 University of DC

Brooks AFB, TX 78235-5601 Dr. Sherrle Gott AFHRLMOMJ

Ga. Institute of Technology and Systems Engineering Atlanta, GA 30332-0205 School of Industrial Dr. T. Govindanıj

1900 E St., NW, Room 6462 Office of Personnel Management Dr. Marilyn K. Gowing Office of Personnel R&D Washington, DC 20415

Department of Psychology Memphis State University Dr. Arthur C. Graesser Memphis, TN 38152 Jordan Grafman, Ph.D. Chief, Cognitive Neuroscience Section, Medical Neurology Branch-NINDS, Bidg 10, Rm. Bethesda, MD 20892 5C122

Graduate School of Education New York, NY 10023 113 West 60th Street Fordham University Dr. Wayne Gray

Department of Psychology **Johns Hopkins University** Dr. James G. Greeno School of Education Stanford University Baltimore, MD 21218 Charles & 34th Street

Department of Psychology Stanford, CA 94305 Dr. Charles G. Gross Princeton University Green Hall

Center for Adaptive Systems **Dr. Stephen Grousberg** Boston, MA 02215 **Boston University**

111 Cummington Street

Gerhard Grossing userian institute for httgasse 9 Vienna Nonlinear Studies

USTRIA A-1030

Command Support Tech.Division Attn: Mr. J. Grossman, Code 44 Naval Ocean Systems Center San Diego, CA 92152-5000 Bidg. 334

P.O. Box 1420 D-7990 Friedrichshafen 1 Dr. Michael Habon DORNIER GMBH WEST GERMANY

Stanford, CA 94305-3096 Prof. Edward Haertel School of Education Stanford University

Halff Resources, Inc. 4918 33rd Road, North Arlington, VA 22207 Dr. Henry M. Halff

Educational Testing Service Dr. Ronald K. Hambleton Princeton, NJ 08541 Brigham Library

Marilyn Halpern, Libnarian

University of Massachusetta Laboratory of Psychometric and Evaluative Research Hills South, Room 152 Amhenst, MA 01003

Dept. of Computer Science **George Mason University** Fairfax, VA 22030 Mr. H. Hambarger

Dr. Ivar Hansen Forsvarets Psykologitjeneste Atersbus/Oalo mil 0015 Oslo 1

Learning & Knowledge Acquisition Research Dr. Stephen J. Hanson NORWAY

Brain Sciences 20 Nassau Street, Suite 240 **3ditor.** The Behavioral and Minceton, NJ 08542 tevan Harnad

Champaign, IL 61820 Dr. Delwyn Hamlach University of filinois 51 Centy Drive

Computer Science Department Annepolis, MD 21402-5002 Dr. Patrick R. Harrison U.S. Naval Academy

Department of the Navy Joint CALS Management Office Palla Church, VA 22041 Skyline 6, Room 701 5109 Leesbarg Pike Janice Hart

Dr. Wayne Harvey Education Development Cir Vewton, MA 02160 55 Chapel Street

Department of Psychology Bolalder, CO 80309-0344 University of Colorado Dr. Reid Hastie

Knowledge Systems Laboratory Stanford University 701 Weich Road, Bidg. C Palo Alto, CA 94304 Dr. Barbarn Hayes-Roth

3316 Oslo, NORWAY University of Oslo Dr. Per Helmensen Box 1059 USIT

Educational Testing Service Dr. Grunt Henning Mail Stop 18-P

Princeton, NJ 06541

Dept of Educ. Development University of Delaware Newark, DE 19716 Dr. James Hiebert

Department of Psychology University of Delaware Dr. James E. Hoffman Newark, DE 19711

Department of Psychology University of California Los Angeles, CA 90024 Dr. Keith Holyoak

Siemens Research Center 755 College Road East

Princeton, NJ 06544-1010

Minceton, NJ 08540

.

•

Yost Box 20702.2500 ES The Dr. N. Guns Hoofd Van Adminuliteit Kr. D 364 The NETHERLANDS Van Der Burchlaan 31 NPD.SW0

metitut fur Psychologie Juegenstraue 17/19 D-5100 Aachen WEST GERMANY Prof. Lutz P. Homke **RWTH Aachen**

Man-Made Systems Corp. Ellicott City, MD 21043 Dr. Richard L. Horst 1020 Arjay Circle

Sureau of Management Consulting

Z. Jacobson

701-365 Laurler Ave., W. Ottawa, Ontarlo K1H 5W3

CANADA

Cambridge University Press 40 West 20th Street New York, NY 10011 Ms. Julia S. Hough

Elec. and Computer Eng. Dept. University of South Carolina

Columbia, SC 29208

Dr. Claude Janvier

Dr. Robert Jannarone

Brooks AFB, TX 78235-5601 Dr. William Howell **Chief Scientist** AFHRUCA

Université' du Quebec a Montreal, CIRADE, F. O. Box 8888, aucc: A^{*} Monureal, Quebec H3C 3P8 CANADA

Cambridge, MA 02238 BBN Laboratories 10 Moulton Street

Dr. Eva Hudlicka

Partiawn Building Rockville, MD 20857 Dr. Michael F. Huerta NIMH DBBBS 5600 Fishers Lane

University of Alberta Edmonton, Alberta CANADA T6G 2G5 Dr. Steven Hunka 3-104 Educ. N.

Dept. of Psychology, Nf-25 University of Washington Seattle, WA 98195 Dr. Earl Hunt

2122 Coolidge Street Lansing, MI 48906 Dr. Jack Hunter

Computer Science Department Temple Undversity Philadelphia, PA 19122 Dr. Giorgio Ingargiola

Education and Instruction Dr. Martin J. Ippel Center for the Stady of Leiden University 300 RB Leiden P. O. Bux 9555

Rijkauniversiteit Grouingen Grote Kruisstraat 2/1, THE NETHERLANDS Dr. Janet Jackson

Camegie-Meilon University

Dr. Brian Junker

Department of Statistics

Pitaburgh, PA 15213

Carraegie-Mellon University Department of Psychology Schenley Park Pitisburgh, PA 15213 Dr. Marcel Just

971 2TS Groningen The NETHERLANDS

University of Minnesota Department of Psychology 75 E. River Road Dr. Roth Kanfer Elliott Hall

Office of Basic Research U.S. Army Research Institute 5001 Elsenbower Avenue Alexandria, VA 22333-5600 Dr. Michael Kaplan

Minneapolia, MN 55455

Dr. A. Karmiloff-Smlth 17 Gordon Street MRC-CDU

ENGLAND WCIHOAH Dr. Milton S. Katz

Hewlett-Packard Labs, 1U-17

Dr. Robia Jeffries P.O. Box 10490

Palo Alto, CA 94303-0969

PO AE 09499-1500 Dr. Steven W. Keele PSC 802 Box 15

Department of Psychology University of Oregon Eugene, OR 97403

725 South Wright Street Department of Statistics

In Hal Hall

University of Illinols Dr. Kumer Jong-dev

Champeign, IL 61820

Contrown Heights, NY 10598 Dr. Wendy Kellogg IBM T. J. Watson Research Ctr. P.O. Box 704

Dr. Bonnie E. John Department of Compoter Science Carne gie Metton University 5000 Forbes Avenae

Vitsburgh, PA 15213

Jniversity of North Carolina Statistics, CB #3260 Dr. Douglas Kelly Department of

> Department of Psychology University of New Mexico Albuquerque, NM 87131

Dr. Peder Johnson

Chapel Hill, NC 27599

Building MT 9 Florida Atlantic University Boca Raton, FL 33431 Center for Complex Systems Dr. J.A.S. Kelso

Washington, DC 20555

US Nuclear Regulatory

Commission

NRR/12 EA

Dr. Daniel B. Jones

Computing Science & Engr. School of Engr. & Applied Dr. Jeffery L. Kennington

Department of Psychology

Dr. John Jonides

Jniversity of Michigan

Ann Arbor, MI 48104

Southern Methodist University **Dullas, TX 75275** Sciences

Mental Health, DBBBS Dr. Henry Khachatarian Rockville, MD 20857 Vational Institute of 600 Pishers Lane Parklawn Building

[[DAL Bidg., 2360 Bonishel Bivd. Technical Communic. Program University of Michigan Dr. David Klens

Dept. of Mathematics Education Ann Arbor, MI 48109-2108 University of Georgia Dr. Jeremy Kilpatrick **105 Aderbold Hall**

Educational Testing Service Princeton, NJ 08541 Dr. Sung-Ho Kim

Athens, GA 30602

Research & Evaluation Dept Portland, OR 97209-3107 Portland Public Schools 501 North Dixon Street Dr. G. Gage Kingsbury P. O. Box 3107

Code 2212, Building 1171/I Naval Underwater Systems Center Dr. Susan S. Kirschenbaum Newport, RI 02841

San Diego, CA 92186-5800 Dr. Kenneth A. Klyvington The Salk Institute P.O. Box 85800

Naval Health Research Center Mr. David A. Kobus P.O. Box 85122

Georgia Institute of Technology San Diego, CA 92138 Dr. Janet L. Kolodner

Uni versity of Michigan Mental Health Research Institute 205 Washtenaw Place Ann Arbor, MI 48109 College of Computing Atlanta, GA 30332-0280 Dr. Sylvan Komblum

1236 William James Hall Cambridge, MA 02138 Dr. Stephen Kosslyn **Jarvard University 3 Kirkland St.**

Camegie-Mellon University Department of Psychology **Dr. Kenneth Kotovsky**

Department of Information **George Mason University**

Dr. Paul E. Lehner

Systems & Engineering

Pairfax, VA 22030-4444

1400 University Drive

Pitteburgh, PA 15213 Dr. Richard J. Koubek School of Indus. Engr. **Grissom Hall**

West Lafayette, IN 47907 Brooks AFB, TX 78235 Dr. Patrick Kyllonen Pardue University AFHRLMOEL

Naval Training Systems Center

Ulbrury

2350 Research Parkway Orlando, FL 32826-3224

> Dr. Anita Lancaster, Asst. Dir. Defense Manpower Data Center 1600 Wilson Blvd. Arlington, VA 22209 Fourth Floor

National Academy of Sciences 2101 Constitution Avene

Dr. Herbert Lin

Washington, DC 20418

Room HA-560

Dr. Pat Langley Al Research Branch Mail Stop 244-17 NASA Annes Research Ctr. Moffett Field, CA 94035

11490 Commerce Park Drive Dr. M. Diane Langston **ICL North America** Reation, VA 22091 Dr. Marcy Lansman University of North Carolina Dept. of Computer Science CB #3175 **Chapel Hill, NC 27599**

Department of Neurobiology Harvard Medical School 220 Longwood Avenue

Dr. Margaret S. Livingstone

University of California

Folman Hall

Berkeley, CA 94720

of Education, EMST

Washington, DC 20593-0001 Commandant (G-PWP) 2100 Second St., SW **Vichard Lanterman US Coest Guard**

Tactical & Training Systems Div P.O. Box 85158

San Diego, CA 92138-5158

Prof. David P. Lohman

College of Education

University of lowa

OWN City, IA 52242

Logicon Inc. (Atta: Library)

Boston, MA 02115

Camegie-Melion University Department of Psychology Pittsburgh, PA 15213 Dr. Jill Larkin

Department of Computer Science Naval Postgraduate School Monterey, CA 93943 Dr. Yuh-Jeng Lee Code CSALE

AUSTRIA

Ionn City, IA 52243 Dr. Richard Luecht P. O. Box 168 Ę

School of Competer Science Carnegie Mellon University

Dr. Jill F. Lehman

Nusburgh, PA 15213-3890

Maritime Command Headquarters FMO Halifax, N.S., B3K 2XO **Command Pernonnel Applied Research** Coordinate .T(N) C. D. P. Lyon CANADA

Bugene, OR 97401 Decision Research 201 Oak St.

Department of Measureme Statistics & Evaluation College Part, MD 20742 College of Education University of Maryland

San Diego, CA 92152-6800

NASA Johnson Space Center Houston, TX 77058 **Anil Code ER22** Dr. Jane Malin

Pensacola, FL 32509-5000 **NETPMSA Code 04**

Fairfax, VA 22030

Directorale, Instruc. Tech. HQ USAFA/DFET Dr. Mary Martino

Recruiting Plans and Programs Brunch Code: PERS 2FF/234 Vavy Annex, Room 2832 fead, DoD Coordinator, Washington, DC 20350 Dr. Clessen J. Martin

Dr. George B. Macready

Vern M. Malec NPRDC, Code 142

Palo Alto, CA 94304

Dr. Marcia C. Linn

Oraduate School

2550 Hanover Street

Dr. Chartotte Linde

RL

Dr. William L. Maloy

Dr. Evans Mandes George Mason University 4400 University Drive

USAP Academy, CO 80840-5017

Dr. Elizabeth Mardo AL/HRA, Stop 44 Williams AFB AZ 85240

> **ViaR Dr. Christian Lobwasser** Heerespsychologischer Dienst Maria Thereslen-Kaserne 1130 Wien

Dr. Donald MacGregor

Educational Testing Service

Dr. Richard Leab

Princeton, NJ 08541

Temple Univ. School of Medicine Cir for Cognitive Neuroscience **Department of Neurology** MOL North Broad Street hiladelphia, PA 19140 **Dr. Nadine Martin**

Department of Computer Science University of South Carolina Dr. Manion M. Matthews Columbia, SC 29208

fechnical Communic. Program University of Michigan Ann Arbor, MI 48109 2360 Bonisteel Blvd. Dr. John Mayer

Department of Psychology Santa Barbara, CA 93106 University of California Dr. Richard E. Mayer

Dr. James L. McGaugh Center for the Neurobiology of Learning and Memory Univ. of California, Irvine rvine, CA 92717

Dr. David J. McGoinness 800 Florida Avenue, N.E. Washington, DC 20002 **Gallaudet University**

Department of Computer Science **150 Computer Science Building** Dr. Kathleen McKeown New York, NY 10027 Columbia University

Atlanta, GA 30532-0205

Dr. James R. McBride 6430 Embarst Drive HumRRO

San Diego, CA 92120 Dr. Michael McNeese DET-1, ALVCFHI

Wright-Patterson AFB, OH 45432 Dr. Stig Meincke, Ph.D. **BLDG 248**

Forswarets Center for Ledenskab Christianshavna Voldgade 8 1424 Kobenhavn K DENMARK

Washington, DC 20375-5000 Naval Research Laboratory 4555 Overlook Ave., SW Dr. Alan Meyrowitz Code 5510

kash Presbyterian-St Lukes Department of Physiology tush Medical College **X. Joel A. Michael** Chicago, IL 60612 Medical Center

Center for Artificial Intelligence Science and Tech II, Rm.411 George Mason University ²alrfax, VA 22030-4444 Dr. Ryszard S. Michalski 4400 University Drive

CNR-Istituto Tecnologie Didattiche GENOVA-ITALIA 16145 /ia All'Opena Pia II Dr. Vittorio Midoro

National Institute of Mental Health aboratory of Neuropsychology 000 Rockville Pike, Bidg.9, Dr. Mortimer Mishkin 101N10

Dr. Robert Miskvy Educational Testing Service Princeton, NJ 08541

Betheada, MD 20892

Georgia institute of Technology School of Indus. and Sys. Eng. Dr. Christine M. Mitchell Center for Man-Machine Systems Research

Department of Psychology University of Central Florida Ortando, FL 32816-0150 Dr. Ben B. Morgan, Jr.

Vestinghouse Science Pittsburgh, PA 15235 & Technology Ctr. Dr. Randy Memaw **310 Beulah Road** Human Sciences

250 N. Harbor Dr., Sulte 309 Redondo Beach, CA 90277 Behavioral Technology Laboratories - USC Dr. Alten Munro

Educational Testing Service Princeton, NJ 08541 Dr. E. Muraki

205 Coleman Ave, Box 580 Central Engineering Labs ianta Clam, CA 95052 Dr. William R. Murray PMC Corporation

.

Mental Health, DBBBS/CBNRB **X. Richard Nakamura** lockville, MD 20857 vational institute of Parklawn Building 600 Fishers Lane

Thair, Department of Weapons Annapolia, MD 21402 **Votems Engineering** J.S. Naval Academy

-

Distribution Support Division Bureau of Naval Personnel ERS-471D

Academic Progs. & Research Vashington, DC 20370

Vaval Technical Training Command Code N-62 Millington, TN 30854 NAS Memphis (75) Branch

Department of Psychology Prof. David Navon University of Haifa Halfa 31999 SRAEL Depaty Director Manpower, Personnel and Training Div. Naval Sea Systems Command ATTN: Code 04MP 511 Washington, DC 20362 Vavy Supply Systems Command Washington, DC 20376-5000 ATTN: Sandra Borden VAVSUP 5512

The NETHERLANDS Fac. Bibl. Toegepaste **Ewente University 7500 AE Enschede** Onderwyskunde Dr. J. Nelissen P. O. Box 217

Dr. Raymond S. Nickenson Bedford, MA 01730 Gleason Road

Department of Computer Sciences Stanford, CA 94305-6060 Stanford University Dr. Nils J. Nilsson

Department of Cognitive Science University of California .a Jolla, CA 92093-0515 Dr. Donald A. Norman

raining Technology Department tan Diego, CA 92152-6800 NPRDC (Code 15) Director

ian Diego, CA 92152-6800 Jbrary, NPRDC Code Oil

vaval Ctr for Appl. Research in Al Vaval Research Laboratory Code 5510 Ibrarian

Washington, DC 20375-5000 Dr. Paul O'Rorke

information & Computer Science University of California, Irvine rvine, CA 92717

Dr. Michael Oberdorfer National Eye Institute Bldg. 31, Room 6A47 Bethesda, MID 20892 **00 Rockville Pike**

University of Pituburgh Learning R & D Center Pittsburgh, PA 15260 Dr. Stellan Ohlsson

Graduate School of Business Ann Arbor, Mi 48109-1234 Dr. Judith Reitman Olson University of Michigan

Mathematics Division. Code 1111 Arlington, VA 22217-5000 Office of Naval Researc 100 North Quincy Street

800 N. Quincy Street Artington, VA 22217-5000 Office of Naval Research. Code 1142CS (6 Copies) Assistant for Training Technology Office of the DCNO(MPT) (Op-& Human Factors

Naval Education and Training

Dr. Nancy N. Perry

Program Support Activity

Department of the Navy Washington, DC 20350-2000 គ្ម

Chief of Naval Personnel (PERSpecial Assistant for Research Management

Washington, DC 20350-2000 Department of the Navy Ē

VASA Ames Research Center Moffett Field, CA 94035 Dr. Judith Orasmu fall Stop 239-1

natinate for Defense Analyses 801 N. Beauregard St. Viexandria, VA 22311 **Dr. Jesse Orlansky**

Dr. Everett Palmer

PERL-2

One Dupont Circle, NW Washington, DC 20036

890 Maple Avenue Evanation, IL 60201

Rue Fritz Toussaint 47 Gendamerie RSP 050 Braxelles BELGIUM 5001 Eisenhower Avenue Alexandria, VA 22333

00100 ROMA - ITALY Maripers U.D.G. 3' Sez Captaln ITNMC

Building 2435 Code-047 CDR Frank C. Petho Code OR/PE

1695 N. Nelson St. Adington, VA 22207 Dr. Lutgi Petrullo

ian Diego, CA 92152-6800 NOSC, Code 441 Dr. Glenn Osga

NASA-Ames Research Center Moffett Pield, CA 94035 Mail Stop 262-4

Mmy Research Institute

5001 Elsenhower Avenue Viexandria, VA 22333 Wayne M. Patience

Pensacola, FL 32509-5000 Vaval Postgraduate School

GED Testing Service, Ste 20 Amer. Council on Education

Dr. Roy Pea lasti, for the Learning Sciences Northwestern University

G. Pelsmakers

Dr. Ray S. Perez ARI (PERI-II)

MINISTERO DIFESA - MARINA C.V. (MD) Dr. Antonio Perl

Monterey, CA 93943

Monterey, CA 93943-5026 Naval Postgraduate School Code X

Dept. of Administrative Sciences

chool of Education Dr. Peter Pirolli

Julversity of California letteley, CA 94720

Massachusetta Institute of Technology E25-201 Information Processing Prof. Tomaso Poggio Center for Biological

Cambridge, MA 02139 Dr. Martha Polson

Department of Psychology Boulder, CO 80309-0344 University of Colorado

Department of Psychology Boulder, CO 80309-0344 University of Colorado Dr. Peter Polson

Department of Psychology University of Oregon Dr. Michael I. Posner Eugene, OR 97403

Alexandria, VA 22333-5600 Army Research Institute 5001 Eisenhower Ave. Dr. Joseph Psotka ATTN: PERI-IC

American Psychological Assoc. Psyc Info - CD and M Arlington, VA 22201 200 Uhle Street

Grumman Aircraft Systems Bethpage, NY 11714

Mail Stop K01-14 Dr. Gilbert Ricard

Dr. Edwina L. Rissland Dept. of Computer and

> Naval Postgraduate School Mr. Peter Purdue (55Pd) **Operations Research**

Monterey, CA 93943

University of Massachusetta

Information Science Amberst, MA 01003

> Department of Radiation Sciences 510 S. Kingshighway, Box 8225 Washington University School of Medicine St. Louis, MO 63110 Dr. Marcus Raichle

12350 Research Parkway Ortando, FL 32826-3224

Code 26

Head, Human Factors Division Naval Training Systems Center

Mr. W. A. Rizzo

Vaval Surface Warfare Center White Oak Laboratory Silver Spring, MD 20903 Mr. Paul S. Rau Code U-33

Transportation Program Office of Technology Assessment Congress of the United States Washington, DC 20510

science, Education, and

Dr. Linda G. Roberts

Carregie-Mellon University Pittsburgh, PA 15213 Department of Psychology **Dr. Lynne Reder**

•

owa City, IA 52243 Dr. Mark D. Reckase P. O. Box 168 ţ

Dept. of Computer Science College Part, MD 20742 **Julversity of Maryland** v. V. Williams Bidg. Dr. James A. Reggia

Brooks AFB, TX 78235 Dr. J. Weakey Regian VFHRL/IDI

Camegie-Melion University CDEC, Smith Hall Dr. Fred Relf

Pittabarg, PA 15213

Department of Psychology Dr. Duniel Reisberg Reed College

Portland, OR 97202

inst. for the Learning Sciences **Northwestern University** Evanaton, IL 60201 Dr. Brian Reiser

Jriversity of Pittsburgh cerning R & D Center Pittsburgh, PA 15213 Dr. Lanren Resnick **1939 O'Ham Street**

Washington, DC 2007 Dr. Andrew M. Rose American institutes for Research 1333 K Street, N.W.

4725 Peachene Comers Circle Suite 200 learch Technology, Inc. **Dr. Willing B. Rouse**

Norcross, GA 30092

Mr. Louis Roussos University of Illinois Department of Statistics 725 South Wright St. **101 Blue Hall**

Champaign, IL 61820

Human Factors Div. (Code 262) 12350 Research Parkway Naval Training Systems Center Ottando, FL 32826-3224 Dr. Eduardo Salas

310B Aastin Peay Bldg. Knoxville, TN 37966-0900 Department of Psychology University of Tennessee Dr. Fumiko Samejima

Department of Paychology George Mason University 4400 University Drive Fairfax, VA 22030 Dr. James F. Sanford

Department of Psychology Cambridge, MA 02138 Dr. Daniel L. Schacter Harvard University

Inst. for the Learning Sciences Northwestern University 1890 Maple Avenue Evanston, IL 60201 Dr. Roger Schank

Menio Part, CA 94025 333 Ravenswood Ave. Dr. Mark Schlager SRI International Room BS-131

HCI Laboratory Code 5532 Naval Research Laboratory Washington, DC 20375-5000 Dr. Astrid Schmidt-Neilson

University of Pittsburgh 3939 C'Hara Street Pittsburgh, PA 15260 Learning R&D Center Dr. Walter Schnelder

Dr. Alan H. Schoenfeld University of California Department of Education letteley. CA 94720

Cartsbad, CA 92008 Dr. Mary Schratz **1100 Parkside**

Neuropaych. Research Lab Mosa Rehabilitation Hospital 1200 Wesi Tahor Road Philadelphia, PA 19141 Dr. Myma P. Schwartz

Dr. Judith W. Segal OERIO

Washington, DC 20208-5648 555 New Jersey Ave., NW

Dr. Robert J. Seidel US Army Research Institute 5001 Eisenbower Ave. Atexandeta, V A 22333

Department of Psychology University of Mitchigan Dr. Colleen M. Selfert Ann Arbor, MI 48104 **330 Packard Road**

San Diego, CA 92138-9216 Dr. Terrence J. Sejnowski Professor The Salk Institute P. O. Box 85800

Minneapolis, MN 55455-0344 Department of Psychology University of Minnesota Mr. Robert Semmes N218 Ellion Hall

Dr. Klahove Sengupta Department of Administrative Services, Code 54, SE Naval Post Graduate School Monterey, CA 93943-5000

State University of New York 342 Lawrence D. Bell Hall Department of Industrial Dr. Valerie L. Shalin Buffalo, NY 14260 Engineering

Graduate School of Education Santa Barbara, CA 93106 Mr. Richard J. Shavelson University of California

Educational Testing Service Princeton, NJ 08541 Vis. Kathleen Sheehan

Mr. Colin Sheppard Command and Control Dept. Portsmouth Hants P064AA Defense Research Agency **MODDNIX GELINI** Maritime Div.

Dept. of Computer Science College Part, MD 20742 University of Maryland Dr. Ben Shneidennen

1555 Overlook Avenue, S.W Navel Research Laboratory Dr. Randail Shumaker Code 5500

Navy Health Research Center, P. O. Box 85122 San Diego, CA 92138-9174 Washington, DC 20375-5000 Scientific Director

Dr. Edward Silver

University of Pittsburgh Pittaborgh, PA 15260 3939 O'Hara Street LRDC

Navy Personnel R&D Center San Diego, CA 92152-6800 Mr. Joe Silverman Code 11S

5001 Elsenbower Avenue Alexandria, VA 22333-5600 Dr. Zita M. Simuts, Director **US Army Research Institute** Manpower & Personnel Research Laboratory

Dept of Medical Psychology Uniformed Services Univ. of the 4301 Jones Bridge Road Bethesda, MD 20814-4799 Dr. Jerome E. Singer Health Sciences

SP-00101 Heisinki 10, FINLAND Military Psych.Office PL 919 General Headquarters Dr. Juhani Sinivoo **Finining Section**

Dept of Computer Science Towson State University Towson, MD 21204 Dr. Jan Signott

Computing Science Department Scotland UNITED KINGDOM Aberdeen AB9 2FX Dr. Derek Sleeman The University

San Diego, CA 92152-5000 Naval Ocean Systems Center Dr. Robert Smillie Code 443

Department of Prychology University of Michigan Dr. Edward E. Smith **330 Packard Road**

Department of Prychology Ann Arbor, MI 48103 Dr. Michael E. Smith

College Station, TX 77843 Fexas A&M University

Stanford, CA 94305 School of Education Stanford University Dr. Richard E. Spow

Department of Psychology Miami University 104 Benton Hall Oxford, OH 45056 Dr. Garold Staastr

University of South Carolina Dr. James J. Stangewski Colembia, SC 29210 Dept. of Psychology

Dr. Brace D. Steinberg

Curry College Milton, MA 02186 Dr. Ted Steinke

Dept. of Geography University of Soath Carolina Columbia, SC 29208

Dr. Robert J. Sternberg Department of Psychology Yale University Box 11A, Yale Station New Haven, CT 06520

San Antonio, TX 78235-5601 Dr. Kurt Steack Brooks AFB AL/HRTI

Educational Testing Service Dr. Martha Stocking Princeton, NJ 08541

Department of Statistics University of filinois Dr. William Stout

725 South Wright St. Champaign, IL 61820

Educational Testing Service Dr. Kikumi Tatsooka Princeton, NJ 06541 Mail Stop 03-T

Dr. Frank L. Vicino Navy Personnel R&D Center San Diego, CA 92152-6800

Educational Psychology Champeign, IL 61820 Mr. Gary Thomason University of Illinois

Department of Paychology St. Nothert College

Dr. Jerry Vogi

De Pere, WI 54115-2099

Hedco Nearoaclences Bldg., HNB University of So. California Dr. Richard F. Thompson and Behavioral Sciences Program for Neural, Info.

Department of Prychology

SWITZERLAND 1204

Geneva

Dr. Jacques Voteche University of Geneva

Los Angeles, CA 90089-2520 CAE-Link Corporation 209 Madison Street Dr. Sharon Thacz

Office of Naval Research Code 1133SS

Dr. Ralph Wachter

800 North Quincy Struct Artington, VA 22217

Direzione Generale Leva - N.P.A. Fen. Col. (dr.) Sandro Tomassini K. Adenaver 3 Roma 00144 P.LE

Behavioral Technology Labs University of So. California Dr. Douglas Towne 1228 Spring Street TALY

Oklahoma City, OK 73125

FAA Acadeny P.O. Box 25082

Dr. Thomas A. Warm

Princeton, NJ 08541

Mail Stop 03-T

Department of Psychology

Dr. Shih-sung Wen

Inclusion State University

400 J. R. Lynch Street

St. Helena, CA 94574

Jackson, MS 39217

Dr. Amos Tversky Stanford University Dept. of Psychology Stanford, CA 94305 Building 420

Chair, Psychology Dept University of Maryland, Baltimore, MD 21228 **Baltimore** County

Washington, DC 20418

2101 Constitution Ave.

Alexandra K. Wigdor

NRC MH-176

Dean, College of Behavioral University of Maryland, Baltimore, MD 21228 and Social Sciences **Beltimore** County

Northwestern University

Evanation, IL 60208

School of Education

Dr. David Wiley

and Social Policy

Department of Psychology Arizona State University l'empe, AZ 85287-1104 Dr. William Uttal

Department of Computer Science 405 North Mathews Avenue

Urbana, IL 61801

University of Pittsburgh 3939 O'Hara Street Pitaburgh, PA 15260 Dr. Kurt VanLehn E E E E

Dr. Kent E. Williams Department of Industrial and Systems Engineering/MSL **Sincksburg, VA 24061-0249** 900 Knift Dilve

School of Education

U.S. Army institute for the Bethavioral and Social Science 5001 Elsenhower Avenue Dr. Robert A. Wisher

Univ. of Calif., Los Angeles Dr. Mertin C. Wittrock

Mr. John H. Wolfe

Educational Testing Service

Dr. Ming-Mci Wang

Alexandria, VA 22314

Dr. Kentaro Yamamolo 03-0T

Dr. Masoud Yazdani Princeton, NJ 08541

Washington, DC 20064 Frank R. Yekovich **Catholic University** Dept. of Education

1800 G Street, N.W. Room 320

Prof. Genard de Zeeuw The NETHERLANDS Center for Innovation 1013 KS Amsterdam

> Dr. David C. Wilkins **Jaiversity of Illinois**

Department of Educational University of Illinois Urbana, IL 61801 Dr. Brace Williams Psychology

Dr. Mark Wilson

University of California Berkeley, CA 94720 Alexandria, VA 22333-5600

Graduate School of Education Los Angeles, CA 90024 Navy Personnel R&D Center San Diego, CA 92152-6800

Educational Testing Service **Rosedale Rosd**

Dept. of Computer Science University of Exeter Prince of Wales Road Exeter EX44PT

ENGLAND

Dr. Douglas Wetzel Code 15 Navy Personnel R&D Center San Diego, CA 92152-6800

Dr. Joseph L. Young National Science Foundation Washington, DC 20550 and Cooperative Technology Grote Bickersstraat 72